University of Nebraska - Lincoln DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

USDA Forest Service / UNL Faculty Publications

U.S. Department of Agriculture: Forest Service --National Agroforestry Center

2016

Tamm Review: Management of mixed-severity fire regime forests in Oregon, Washington, and Northern California

Paul F. Hessburg USDA Forest Service, phessburg@fs.fed.us

Thomas A. Spies USDA Forest Service, tspies@fs.fed.us

David A. Perry Oregon State University, dave perry38@msn.com

Carl N. Skinner USDA Forest Service, rxfuego@gmail.com

Alan H. Taylor The Pennsylvania State University, aht1@psu.edu

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usdafsfacpub

Hessburg, Paul F.; Spies, Thomas A.; Perry, David A.; Skinner, Carl N.; Taylor, Alan H.; Brown, Peter M.; Stephens, Scott L.; Larson, Andrew J.; Churchill, Derek J.; Povak, Nicholas A.; Singleton, Peter H.; McComb, Brenda; Zielinski, William J.; Collins, Brandon M.; Salter, R. Brion; Keane, John J.; Franklin, Jerry F.; and Riegel, Greg, "Tamm Review: Management of mixed-severity fire regime forests in Oregon, Washington, and Northern California" (2016). USDA Forest Service / UNL Faculty Publications. 296. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usdafsfacpub/296

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the U.S. Department of Agriculture: Forest Service -- National Agroforestry Center at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in USDA Forest Service / UNL Faculty Publications by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

Authors

Paul F. Hessburg, Thomas A. Spies, David A. Perry, Carl N. Skinner, Alan H. Taylor, Peter M. Brown, Scott L. Stephens, Andrew J. Larson, Derek J. Churchill, Nicholas A. Povak, Peter H. Singleton, Brenda McComb, William J. Zielinski, Brandon M. Collins, R. Brion Salter, John J. Keane, Jerry F. Franklin, and Greg Riegel

Forest Ecology and Management 366 (2016) 221-250



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Forest Ecology and Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Review and synthesis

Tamm Review: Management of mixed-severity fire regime forests in Oregon, Washington, and Northern California





Paul F. Hessburg^{a,*}, Thomas A. Spies^b, David A. Perry^c, Carl N. Skinner^d, Alan H. Taylor^e, Peter M. Brown^f, Scott L. Stephens^g, Andrew J. Larson^h, Derek J. Churchillⁱ, Nicholas A. Povak^j, Peter H. Singleton^j, Brenda McComb^c, William J. Zielinski^k, Brandon M. Collins¹, R. Brion Salter^j, John J. Keane^m, Jerry F. Franklinⁱ, Greg Riegelⁿ

^a USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, 1133 North Western Ave., Wenatchee, WA 98801-1229, USA

^d USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Redding, CA, USA

^e Department of Geography & Earth & Environmental Systems Institute, The Pennsylvania State University, PA, USA

^g Department of Environmental Sciences, Policy & Management, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA

^h College of Forestry and Conservation, University of Montana, Missoula, MT, USA

ⁱ College of Environment, School of Forest Resources, University of Washington, WA, USA

^jUSDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Wenatchee, WA, USA

^k USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Arcata, CA, USA

¹USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Davis, CA, USA

^m USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Fresno, CA, USA

ⁿ USDA Forest Service, Deschutes National Forest, Bend, OR, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 September 2015 Received in revised form 20 January 2016 Accepted 23 January 2016 Available online 11 February 2016

Keywords: Forest resilience Resistance Climate change Multi-scale heterogeneity Patch size distributions Topographic controls Early successional habitats

ABSTRACT

Increasingly, objectives for forests with moderate- or mixed-severity fire regimes are to restore successionally diverse landscapes that are resistant and resilient to current and future stressors. Maintaining native species and characteristic processes requires this successional diversity, but methods to achieve it are poorly explained in the literature. In the Inland Pacific US, large, old, early seral trees were a key historical feature of many young and old forest successional patches, especially where fires frequently occurred. Large, old trees are naturally fire-tolerant, but today are often threatened by dense understory cohorts that create fuel ladders that alter likely post-fire successional pathways. Reducing these understories can contribute to resistance by creating conditions where canopy trees will survive disturbances and climatic stressors; these survivors are important seed sources, soil protectors, and critical habitat elements. Historical timber harvesting has skewed tree size and age class distributions, created hard edges, and altered native patch sizes. Manipulating these altered forests to promote development of larger patches of older, larger, and more widely-spaced trees with diverse understories will increase landscape resistance to severe fires, and enhance wildlife habitat for underrepresented conditions.

Closed-canopy, multi-layered patches that develop in hot, dry summer environments are vulnerable to droughts, and they increase landscape vulnerability to insect outbreaks and severe wildfires. These same patches provide habitat for species such as the northern spotted owl, which has benefited from increased habitat area. Regional and local planning will be critical for gauging risks, evaluating trade-offs, and restoring dynamics that can support these and other species. The goal will be to manage for heterogeneous landscapes that include variably-sized patches of (1) young, middle-aged, and old, closed-canopy forests growing in upper montane, northerly aspect, and valley bottom settings, (2) a similar diversity of open-canopy, fire-tolerant patches growing on ridgetops, southerly aspects, and lower montane settings, and (3) significant montane chaparral and grassland areas. Tools to achieve this goal

* Corresponding author.

^b USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis, OR, USA

^c Department of Forest Ecosystems & Society, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, USA

^f Rocky Mountain Tree Ring Research, 2901 Moore Lane, Fort Collins, CO 80526, USA

E-mail addresses: phessburg@fs.fed.us (P.F. Hessburg), tspies@fs.fed.us (T.A. Spies), dave_perry38@msn.com (D.A. Perry), rxfuego@gmail.com (C.N. Skinner), aht1@psu.edu (A.H. Taylor), pmb@rmtrr.org (P.M. Brown), sstephens@berkeley.edu (S.L. Stephens), a.larson@umontana.edu (A.J. Larson), derekch@u.washington.edu (D.J. Churchill), npovak@fs.fed.us (N.A. Povak), psingleton@fs.fed.us (P.H. Singleton), Brenda.McComb@oregonstate.edu (B. McComb), bzielinski@fs.fed.us (W.J. Zielinski), bmcollins@fs.fed.us (B.M. Collins), bsalter@fs.fed.us (R.B. Salter), jkeane@fs.fed.us (J.J. Keane), jff@u.washington.edu (J.F. Franklin), griegel@fs.fed.us (G. Riegel).

include managed wildfire, prescribed burning, and variable density thinning at small to large scales. Specifics on "how much and where?" will vary according to physiographic, topographic and historical templates, and regulatory requirements, and be determined by means of a socio-ecological process. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Introd	duction	223						
	1.1.	Scope and extent of mixed severity fires	223						
	1.2.	Recent changes in MSForests	225						
	1.3.	Management challenges in MSForests	227						
2.	Mana	ngement strategies	228						
	2.1.	Strategy 1: Landscape-level approaches to increasing pyrodiversity							
		2.1.1. Current pyrodiversity is atypically simple	228						
		2.1.2. A complex pyrodiversity as a bet-hedging strategy	228						
		2.1.3. Need to restore a more characteristic pyrodiversity	228						
		2.1.4. Lessons from fuel treatment simulation studies.	228						
		2.1.5. Navigating social and ecological trade-offs.	229						
		216 The need for ongoing fuel treatments	229						
		2.1.7 Operational limitations on treatment placement	229						
	22	Strategy 2: Protecting and restoring large and old early successional tree abundance	230						
	2.2.	2.2.1. Added benefits of retaining large, old early seral trees							
		2.2.1. Added beliefs of relating large, out any set in test	230						
	23	Strategy 3: Evnanding use of prescribed and wildfires to restructure foreste							
	2.5.	Surfaces J. Expanding use of prescripted and windness to restructure follests.							
		2.3.1. Mechanical relativities are not all option in some lorests	221						
	24	2.3.2. Managed windlife is a promising approach.	221						
	2.4.	Strategy 4. Osing lopography to tallor restorative treatments to the failuscape	232						
		2.4.1. Topography strongly innucleos site productivity and the sevenity patterns	232						
	25	2.4.2. Frequent burning of instorical Misrofests reduced the fikelihood of severe files	232						
	2.5.	Strategy 5. Reliabilitating plantations	232						
		2.5.1. Plantations may be a good source of future LOES1	232						
		2.5.2. Plantation timming can accelerate growth and development of me resistance	232						
		2.5.3. Plantation boundaries are often inconsistent with the topographic template	232						
		2.5.4. Wildfire effects on current plantations broadly vary.	232						
		2.5.5. Plantation thinning and slash disposal should go hand-in-hand.	233						
	2.6.	Strategy 6: Creating and maintaining successional heterogeneity.	233						
		2.6.1. Spatial neterogeneity from MSFires is important at several scales	233						
		2.6.2. The importance of fine-scale heterogeneity	233						
		2.6.3. Re-creating fine-scale heterogeneity	234						
		2.6.4. The importance of meso-scale heterogeneity	234						
		2.6.5. Re-creating and protecting meso-scale heterogeneity.	234						
		2.6.6. The importance of understanding the historical range of variability (HRV) in meso-scale successional patterns	234						
		2.6.7. Historical fire regimes maintained forest cover and density at levels far below carrying capacity	234						
		2.6.8. Landscape prescriptions are needed	235						
		2.6.9. Determining ranges of target tree densities	235						
		2.6.10. Determining ranges of target basal area	236						
	2.7.	Strategy 7: Integrating restoration with late-successional forest habitat needs	237						
		2.7.1. Thinning effects on spotted owl prey species.	237						
		2.7.2. Carefully considering trade-offs	237						
		2.7.3. Competitive interactions between NSOs and BDOs	237						
		2.7.4. CASPO responses to landscape scale treatments	237						
		2.7.5. Other species responses to landscape scale treatments	238						
	2.8.	Strategy 8: Mitigating threats from drought, forest insects, and pathogens	238						
		2.8.1. Thinning can be useful in a variety of situations	239						
		2.8.2. Foresters need a broader variety of stand density management tools	239						
	2.9.	2.8.3. Adapting stand density to future climatic changes	239						
		Strategy 9: Creating and maintaining early successional forests	239						
		2.9.1. Broad historical extent of early successional conditions	240						
		2.9.2. Concerns with overabundant early successional forest conditions	240						
3.	Towa	rds a comprehensive landscape strategy	240						
4.	Overa	arching concepts	241						
	Ackno	owledgements	243						
	Refer	rences	243						

P.F. Hessburg et al./Forest Ecology and Management 366 (2016) 221-250

1. Introduction

1.1. Scope and extent of mixed severity fires

Mixed-severity fires are common in dry and moist mixedconifer, ponderosa (*Pinus ponderosa*), and Jeffrey pine (*Pinus jeffreyi*) forests of the Inland Pacific Western US (Fig. 1), and in many other mixed conifer forests throughout the intermountain West, where summers are typically hot and dry (Collins and Stephens, 2010; Hessburg et al., 2007; Larson and Churchill, 2012; Odion et al., 2014; Perry et al., 2011: Fig. 3b, Schoennagel et al., 2004; Beaty and Taylor, 2001, 2008; Taylor and Skinner, 1998, 2003; Bekker and Taylor, 2008, 2010). As defined here, mixed-severity fires (hereafter, *MSFires*) roughly comprise the interquartile range of fire severities, where 20–70% of the dominant tree basal area or canopy cover of a given patch of forest is killed by any single instance of fire (Agee, 1993).

Areas of relatively homogenous fire mortality effects (often within a much larger fire event area) typically *define the size, shape,* and extent of fire severity patches, including mixed-severity, which historically were often shaped by prevailing topographic features. Fire severity patches commonly occurred in a continuum of sizes between $\sim 10^{\circ}$ and 10° ha: larger patches were also possible, but were historically rarer in number than those in this more common range of sizes (Moritz et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2011). However, these larger patches usually accounted for a large area burned by MSFires, and large fire area burned varied significantly by ecoregion (Moritz et al., 2011). Note that to be defined as MSFire, patches >10³ ha did not burn with complete tree mortality, rather, individual trees and clumps of various sizes would have survived consistent with the definition. Indeed, the overall patchiness of a large landscape over space and time is the result of variation in disturbance severity (Pickett and White, 2013).

A mixed-severity fire regime forest is one, where over space, MSFires tend to naturally dominate, but not to the complete exclusion of occasional low- or high-severity fires over time. With highand low-severity fires, >70% and <20% of the dominant tree basal area or canopy cover of a patch is killed by any single instance of fire, respectively (Agee, 1993). Mixed-severity fire regime forests (hereafter, MSForests) are poorly understood in comparison with those where either high- or low-severity fires dominate. One reason is that the mixed-severity class is a "catch-all bin" for what remains after the more clearly defined, end member, low- and high-severity classes are accounted for. Another is that while MSFires may commonly occur in a patch of forest, there is additional temporal variability in severity to be considered too. Over multi-centenary time frames, an individual patch of forest can characteristically experience MSFires, but occasionally experience low or high-severity events, over all or part of the area (e.g., Arno et al., 1995; Agee, 1993, 2003; Perry et al., 2011; Hopkins et al., 2014). Some use this notion of temporal variability in fire severity to refashion a more liberal definition of MSFire than used here, which essentially includes every forest type (Odion et al., 2014). However, we constrain our definition to describe MSForests as those where over space and time, MSFires tend to naturally dominate.

Postfire conditions after MSFires are some of the most structurally variable (Belote et al., 2015; Halofsky et al., 2011). Conditions within a patch can range from relatively high tree survival after primarily surface fires, with only modest amounts of individual tree and group torching (i.e., 20–50% of the dominant tree basal area or canopy cover is killed), to mixed surface and crownfires, where more trees are killed than survive (i.e., 51–70% of the dominant tree basal area or canopy cover is killed, Fig. 2). We also refer the reader to Perry et al. (2011) – *The ecology of mixed*



Fig. 1. Bailey Sections and Subsections in Oregon, Washington, and northern California, with forest vegetation types that often display mixed severity fire regimes (Bailey, 1995, 2009, http://svinetfc4.fs.fed.us/clearinghouse/other_resources/ecosubregions.html). Section M261A has been modified along the Southwest Oregon coast according to Frenkel (1993) to exclude an area of mostly high severity regimes. Most Sections also contain areas of either low-severity or high-severity regimes (or both). Section alphanumeric codes are: M242B (Western Cascades), M242C (Eastern Cascades), M261A (Klamath Mountains), M261B (Northern California Coast Ranges), M261C (Northern California Interior Coast Ranges), M261D (Southern Cascades Section), M261E (Sierra Nevada), M261F (Sierra Nevada Foothills), M261G (Modoc Plateau), M332G (Blue Mountains), M333A (Okanogan Highlands).



Fig. 2. Photographs of surface (A) and crownfire (B) behavior associated with mixed-severity fires, where 20–70% of the dominant basal area or canopy cover may be killed by the sum of all surface and crownfire effects. Panel (C) shows a typical mixed conifer forest in the eastern Washington Liberty-Beehive area that was historically frequented by mixed-severity fire. The historical photo was taken in 1934 by Albert Arnst; photo courtesy of the National Archives and Record Administration, Seattle, WA. The modern-era photo (D) was taken by John Marshall in 2012, after the Wenatchee Complex Fire. The photo in (D) was taken just months after the fire, on the occasion of the first snowfall, to highlight the mixed-severity effects.



Fig. 3. Repeat panoramic photographs of the Leecher Mountain area, Methow Valley, WA. In the 1930 black and white photo (above), dry mixed conifer forests are apparent. These forests were regularly burned by frequent lightning ignited fires, and by Native Americans, until the start of the 20th century. Notice how frequent fires maintained open canopy forest conditions and extensive areas of grassland cover in the top photo. Note how densely forested the same area has become in the 2011 bottom photo and that many grassland areas now support dense forest cover. Top photo courtesy of the National Archives and Record Administration, Seattle, WA, from the William Osborne Collection. Bottom photo courtesy of John Marshall Photography.



Fig. 4. Repeat panoramic photographs of the Slate Peak area, Slate Creek drainage, near Mazama, WA. In the 1934 black and white photo (above), cold site lodgepole pine, subalpine fir, and Engelmann spruce forests are apparent. These forests were burned by lightning ignited fires until well into the 20th century. Notice the exceptional variety in lifeform cover and of forest successional conditions (burned area, recovering forest, early seral grasslands and shrublands, patches of seedlings and saplings, young, intermediate and mature forests). While fires visited individual patches with relative infrequency, there was much evidence of recent fires nearby. Thus, infrequent, high severity fire does not connote a lack of fire on the landscape. Rather, it connotes low frequency in individual patches of forests, but the surrounding landscape may show much evidence of ongoing fires nearby. This is the change of consequence in forests of the high-severity regime. Notice also the recent landslides, avalanche chutes, and hillslope failures in recently burned areas of the 1934 photo, and their relative absence in the 2013 repeat photo. Top photo courtesy of the National Archives and Record Administration, Seattle, WA, from the William Osborne Collection. Bottom photo courtesy of John Marshall Photography.

severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California, which is a companion paper to this one. In Perry et al. (2011), we expand on our discussion of the ecology and spatial geography of mixed severity fires, as a foundation for discussions about management of these same forests.

MSForests occupy a wide range of environments (Stine et al., 2014), and they historically exhibited a characteristic patch size distribution, revealing many small and fewer large patches, which resulted in high alpha, beta, and gamma diversity (Collins and Stephens, 2010; Hessburg et al., 2007, 2015; Moritz et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2011: Fig. 1a and b). That diversity derived primarily from fire interactions with vegetation structure, topography, and weather variations at the time a fire occurred. Over time these interactions contributed to a considerable pyrodiversity as well (*sensu* Martin and Sapsis, 1992). Pyrodiversity as defined here encompasses the broad spatial and temporal variability in fire frequency, severity, seasonality, distribution, and extent of fires naturally associated with all vegetation types. In fire-prone regions, pyrodiversity drives biotic, successional patch, and habitat diversity.

1.2. Recent changes in MSForests

Pyrodiversity in many MSForests has been simplified by the cumulative effects of past management, environmental changes arising from climatic warming (Abatzoglou and Kolden, 2013; Cansler and McKenzie, 2014), and increasingly larger and more severe wildfires. Because the structural and compositional diversity in MSForests is largely dependent on the prevailing disturbance regime, restoring pyrodiversity is central to restoring MSForests and perhaps most others in the western US (Hessburg et al., 2015). The variety in pre-management era spatial patterns of forest cover types, tree density, canopy cover, tree sizes and ages, and forest successional conditions was an emergent property

of the pyrodiversity of each forest type. No two landscapes were alike. Variation in landscape patterns of physiognomic types too created unique fire regime interactions between types (Lauvaux et al., 2016; Odion et al., 2010). For example, in landscapes with mixed forest and grassland/shrubland conditions, grass-fire/ shrub-fire cycles were often influential to adjacent forest fire frequency and severity.

Pyrodiverse conditions have been broadly simplified by the combined effects of a century of fire suppression, fire exclusion by livestock grazing and road building, selection cutting in dry forests, and clearcut logging in more productive moist forests. Shade-tolerant Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), grand fir (Abies grandis), white fir (Abies concolor), and subalpine fir (Abies lasiocarpa) now dominate in many areas formerly occupied by fire-tolerant and shade-intolerant ponderosa pine, Jeffrey pine, western white pine (Pinus monticola), sugar pine (Pinus lambertiana), and western larch (Larix occidentalis). This has simplified species diversity at patch and larger scales. South-facing aspects and ridgetops and lower montane settings were home to opencanopy forests, and fairly large areas of open woodlands, shrublands, and grasslands (Fig. 3). These were primarily maintained by frequent fires - low to mixed-severity in the forests and woodlands, and high-severity in the shrub- and grasslands. North-facing slopes and valley bottoms and upper montane settings were home to closed-canopy, multi-layered forests, but also shrublands and meadows, and these were primarily maintained by moderately frequent to infrequent mixed- and highseverity fires (Fig. 4). Mid-montane settings were a complex mixture of the two preceding examples and both open and closed canopy forests were present. Time-since-fire, topographic setting, and the severity of prior fires would typically dictate the severity of subsequent fires. Fire frequency in mid-montane environments varied from frequent to moderately infrequent (Fig. 5). These differences are no longer as starkly obvious as they once were, and changes have simplified successional



Fig. 5. Repeat panoramic photographs of the Stafford Creek drainage, Kittitas County, Washington. In the 1934 black and white photo (above), moist mixed conifer forests are apparent on north aspects and valley bottoms, dry mixed conifer forest persist on south aspects and ridges. These forests were burned by lightning ignited fires until well into the 20th century. Notice in the middle ground the complex structure of forest patches facing north (the angle of view is southwest) and the simpler open canopy structure of south facing and ridgetop forests in the foreground. On north facing aspects, mixed-severity fires tended to be most prevalent, but evidence for high-severity fires is also present in a number of patches. Much of this complexity has been lost in the current condition (2013, bottom photo) absent fire. Top photo courtesy of the National Archives and Record Administration, Seattle, WA, from the William Osborne Collection. Bottom photo courtesy of John Marshall Photography.

pattern diversity and pyrodiversity at patch and larger scales. Conserving and restoring these diverse fire regimes will be an enormous challenge (Spies et al., 2012), but it is the perhaps the most important challenge ahead.

Climate change is stressing forests worldwide as environmental conditions change at rates exceeding the adaptive capacity of some species and communities (Allen et al., 2010, 2015; Dai, 2011), and MSForests are no exception. Uncharacteristically large wildfires and insect outbreaks have become more common in most forest types, and will likely continue (Logan et al., 2003; Westerling et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2009; Littell et al., 2008, 2009; McKenzie et al., 2004; Pechony and Shindell, 2010; Rogers et al., 2011; Stavros et al., 2014). Significant impacts on MSForest hydrology are evident too. A warming climate will likely continue driving these trends (Chmura et al., 2011; Hay et al., 2011; Luce and Holden, 2009; Pederson et al., 2011).

Warming temperatures and low plant-available water are currently reflected in declining MSForest resilience¹ (Allen et al., 2010; Dale et al., 2001; Sturrock et al., 2011); tree mortality has increased and is associated with warming and drying (Bentz et al., 2010; Bigler et al., 2007; Breshears et al., 2005; Guarin and Taylor, 2005; Hicke et al., 2006; Lutz and Halpern, 2006; Raffa et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2015; van Mantgem et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2013). The combined effects of reduced snowpack, earlier springs, warming winter and summer temperatures, and hotter summer droughts have triggered chronic bark beetle (*Dendroctonus* spp., *Ips* spp., *Scolytus* spp.) outbreaks in nearly all forest types, at levels not seen in 125 years (Allen et al., 2015; Bentz et al., 2010; Raffa et al., 2008). High leaf area in dense

stands can produce high water demand and ensuing drought stress (Lutz et al., 2010; Stephenson, 1998; Waring and Running, 2010) that can be further exacerbated by warming (Chmura et al., 2011). For example, at Blacks Mountain Experimental Forest, a MSForest in northeastern California, half of the trees >60 cm diameter at breast height (DBH) died in unthinned plots between 1934 and 1998, while few trees died during that time in thinned plots (Ritchie et al., 2008). Additional research relating tree density, forest type, and structure to water use and predicted future seasonal availability would help land managers better adapt future forests to climate change.

Throughout western North America, effects of climate change on MSForests are compounded by prior timber harvests and fire exclusion, which, via regeneration and release of shade-tolerant conifers, significantly increased tree density and abundance of young relative to older tree cohorts (Fettig et al., 2007; Halofsky et al., 2011; Hessburg and Agee, 2003; Hessburg et al., 2005; Loudermilk et al., 2013, 2014; Perry et al., 2011; Raffa et al., 2008). This shift in age structure manifests at patch to regional landscape scales (Larson and Churchill, 2012; Perry et al., 2004, 2011; Taylor, 2004; Brown and Wu, 2005; Hessburg et al., 2000a, 2005; Haugo et al., 2010, 2015; Naficy et al., 2010). For example, in eastern Oregon and Washington, a cover type transition from drought and fire-tolerant to intolerant species is accompanying the shift in age structure (Hagmann et al., 2013, 2014, Hessburg et al., 1999a, 1999b, 2000a; Merschel et al., 2014; Perry et al., 2004; Stine et al., 2014).

In many MSForest areas, the shift in age structure, density, and species composition stems from fire exclusion, and selection and clearcut harvesting that led to the loss of widely distributed remnant large and old trees, patches of old forest, and of naturally recovering early successional communities (Hessburg et al., 2000a, 2005; Hessburg and Agee, 2003; Beaty and Taylor, 2008; Swanson et al., 2010). In others, the transitions occurred under the influence of fire exclusion (and often livestock grazing), absent logging (Fig. 6). These simplified landscape patterns reduce biotic diversity and increase the risk of large, spreading disturbances that jeopardize remaining old forest patches (Binkley et al., 2007;

¹ We adopt the definition of resilience provided by the Resilience Alliance (http:// www.resalliance.org/resilience) as "the capacity of a social-ecological system to absorb or withstand perturbations and other stressors such that the system remains within the same [succession and disturbance] regime, essentially maintaining its structure and functions. It describes the degree to which the system is capable of selforganization, learning and adaptation (Holling, 1973; Gunderson and Holling, 2002; Walker et al., 2004).



Fig. 6. Mixed conifer forest change in Lassen Volcanic National Park. Top left 1923 (Weislander), top right 1993 (Taylor), bottom left 2009 (Taylor), bottom right 2013 (Taylor). The photos of the stand were taken from a GLO survey marker. The forest was never logged. A functioning mixed-severity fire regime was present in these forests until 1905 when fire suppression was implemented. A wildfire burned through the park in 2012. Additional details on fire and forest change available in Taylor (2000).

Moritz et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2011; Raffa et al., 2008; Kitzberger et al., 2012, Fig. 6).

Clearcutting has been eliminated and post-fire logging is much reduced on federal lands (Moeur et al., 2005), but these practices continue apace on other ownerships. Legacies of unprecedented 19th and 20th-century anthropogenic disturbance (e.g., timber harvesting, mining) are evident at quite large spatial scales (e.g., see Loudermilk et al., 2013), raising serious questions about the long-term resilience of some current landscapes. In southwest Oregon, for example, soil food webs of MSForests originating after severe wildfires in the late 1800s have yet to recover (Perry et al., 2012). In this same region, forest areas that burned at high-severity and were planted after a fire in 1987, reburned again 15 years later at high-severity, raising the likelihood of a very large scale, disturbance mediated switch from forest to shrublands (Nagel and Taylor, 2005; Thompson and Spies, 2010; Collins and Roller, 2013). While patches of grass or shrubland are a key element of MSForest diversity, amount and configuration play an important role in the overall fire ecology of the surrounding landscape, and they frame questions concerning long-term resilience.

1.3. Management challenges in MSForests

Management direction has been widely discussed for forest types that were historically dominated by frequent surface fires, so-called low-severity forests (e.g., Allen et al., 2002; Agee and Skinner, 2005; Franklin and Agee, 2003; Franklin et al., 2013; Hessburg and Agee, 2003; Hessburg et al., 2005; Kaufmann et al., 2007; Noss et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2009). However, MSForests pose unique challenges to managers because their successional pathways and disturbance patterns are so highly varied (Tepley et al., 2013; Larson et al., 2013). For example, an ongoing management problem in MSForests on public lands has been balancing the competing goals of introducing managed wild and prescribed fires to restore more characteristic successional patterns and disturbance processes, while protecting late-successional forest habitats from uncontrolled and damaging wildfires (Brown et al., 2004; Gaines et al., 2010a, 2010b; Noss et al., 2006; Spies et al., 2006, 2010; Zielinski, 2014). The wildfire threat to late-successional habitats is primarily associated with high surface fuel loads and ladder fuels provided by understory cohorts of pole to small-sized trees (Franklin et al., 2000; Keane, 2014; Roberts et al., 2011, 2015; Zielinski et al., 2013). Reducing these surface and ladder fuels can greatly reduce the likelihood of severe fire behavior (Agee and Skinner, 2005) without substantially altering the late-successional structure of older forests. Conceptual frameworks are needed at patch- to landscape-scales to guide managers seeking to lower the risk of large, high-severity dominated fires, reduce losses to drought and insects, and restore multi-scale habitat heterogeneity (Franklin and Johnson, 2012; Hessburg et al., 2015; North et al., 2014; Stephens et al., 2010; Spies et al., 2012).

Restoration needs of MSForests are the subject of debate. Hanson et al. (2009, 2010), Baker (2012), Williams and Baker (2012), Dellasala and Hanson (2015), Odion et al. (2014), and Baker (2015) have argued against fuels reduction or landscape restoration of any magnitude in Inland West pine and mixedconifer forests. They provide evidence that current large patches of high-severity fire may be within the historical range of variability for these forests, and the risk of loss of dense multistoried forest to high-severity fire is relatively low. Likewise, they suggest that widespread and ecologically important changes have not occurred in these forests in the last century, and that restoration activities on any significant scale are unjustified. Their inferences are based on conclusions drawn from vegetation reconstructions using General Land Office (GLO) or federal Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) data. While these data are useful for general descriptions and tabulations of historical vegetation conditions, they are unsuited to making spatially accurate inferences as to local historical vegetation conditions, or for inferring disturbance regimes from size distributions of trees (Fulé et al., 2014; Stevens et al., in press). While needs vary both regionally and locally, we strongly disagree with the contention that ecological restoration is unnecessary in MSForests of the Inland Pacific West, as do a host of authors throughout the Inland West: Barth et al. (2015), Collins et al. (2011a, 2015), Gaines et al. (2010a, 2010b), Spies et al. (2010), Hessburg and Agee (2003), Hessburg et al. (1999a, 1999b, 2000a, 2005, 2013, 2015), Taylor (2004), Stephens et al. (2009, 2010, 2015), Moghaddas et al. (2010). Scholl and Taylor (2010). Hagmann et al. (2013, 2014), Merschel et al. (2014), Perry et al. (2011), Harris and Taylor (2015), and Franklin and Johnson (2012). However, we recognize the importance of stand-replacing fire in appropriate forest types, and at appropriate spatial and temporal scales. The goal of ecological restoration is not to eliminate severe fire, but to have it resume a more characteristic role.

Following, we discuss the scientific basis for nine strategies aimed at reconciling potentially conflicting management goals in MSForests. We discuss the usefulness of each strategy as part of an ecological framework for management and conservation.

Strategy (1): Landscape-level approaches to restoring pyrodiversity.

Strategy (2): Protecting and restoring large and old, early-successional tree abundance.

Strategy (3): Expanding use of prescribed and wildfires to restructure forests.

Strategy (4): Using topography to tailor restorative treatments to the landscape.

Strategy (5): Rehabilitating plantations.

Strategy (6): Creating and maintaining successional heterogeneity.

Strategy (7): Integrating restoration with late-successional forest habitat needs.

Strategy (8): Mitigating threats from climate change, forest insects, and pathogens.

Strategy (9): Creating and maintaining early-successional forests.

2. Management strategies

2.1. Strategy 1: Landscape-level approaches to increasing pyrodiversity

2.1.1. Current pyrodiversity is atypically simple

Wildfire size and severity have increased in many MSForests (Cansler and McKenzie, 2014; Meigs et al., 2009) in recent decades, and landscape patterns of resulting successional conditions are undergoing simplification. Recent wildfire size has grown due to the combined influences of a changing climate and from past land management practices (Higuera et al., 2015). Furthermore, most fires (>95%) are quickly suppressed each year (Calkin et al., 2014, 2015), and those that escape initial attack generally burn under extreme weather conditions (Calkin et al., 2014, 2015) and become large. Fire severity is increasing by virtue of these same dynamics, and patches of high-severity fire tend to be uncharacteristically large and homogenous (Cansler and McKenzie, 2014). The combination of these two factors has led to a significant 'fire deficit' in forests and a 'fire surplus' in rangelands (Parks et al., 2015b).

2.1.2. A complex pyrodiversity as a bet-hedging strategy

Fostering a complex pyrodiversity is a useful bet-hedging strategy in any climate because it tends to encourage variation in fire size and severity. Historical variation in patch sizes of severity classes and spatial heterogeneity within severity patches was important because it fostered a multi-scale diversity of successional and lifeform conditions (Hessburg et al., 1999b; Larson et al., 2013; Swanson et al., 2010). Disturbances such as fire drive variation in successional and lifeform patterns across spatial scales, which in turn drives the extent and severity of future disturbances (Turner, 1989).

2.1.3. Need to restore a more characteristic pyrodiversity

Landscape-level approaches are needed that reduce live and dead fuel connectivity and limit large crown fires. Using appropriate combinations of prescribed and managed wildfire, and/or mechanical treatments (e.g., see Collins et al., 2014), management can be tailored to topography (see Strategy 4) and other recent fire event boundaries to alter the severity of future disturbances, both within and beyond the treatment boundaries. With modern-era prescribed fire and mechanical treatments, there is substantial evidence accumulating that fire hazard reduction and ecological restoration objectives can be accomplished with few unintended long-term consequences to soils and vegetation, small mammals, songbirds, bark beetles, and carbon sequestration (see Reinhardt et al., 2008; Stephens et al., 2012a). The data are more equivocal for species like the Pacific fisher (Pekania pennant) in California (Truex and Zielinski, 2013), vet recent modeling (Scheller et al., 2011) and empirical work (Zielinski et al., 2013) suggest that fishers too can tolerate the amount of restorative treatments (mechanical + prescribed fire) that may be needed to reduce fire spread rate (Syphard et al., 2011).

2.1.4. Lessons from fuel treatment simulation studies

Numerous studies have used fire spread models to examine the value of strategically placed fuel treatments across local and regional landscapes (Finney, 2001, 2004, 2007; Finney et al., 2007; Stratton, 2004). The basic premise is that an informed deployment of treated areas only covering part of the landscape can modify fire behavior on some portion of the untreated landscape. Various criteria have been used to inform the deployment of modeled or actual treated areas. One early method was to network discontinuous but spatially layered fuel treatments termed "strategically placed landscape area treatments" or SPLATs (Finney, 2001; Finney et al., 2007; Bahro et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008) – an approach Loehle (2004) likened to the arrangement of bulkheads on a ship. Later modeling employed defensible fuel profile zones (DFPZ's, Moghaddas et al., 2010), prioritizing treated areas according to stocking density (Ager et al., 2010; Collins et al., 2011b), and protecting special value areas, such as threatened habitats for high priority species (Ager et al., 2007, 2012; Gaines et al., 2010a, 2010b; Kennedy et al., 2008; Lehmkuhl et al., 2007; Scheller et al., 2011; Syphard et al., 2011; Roloff et al., 2012), or urban/exurban development concentrations (Ager et al., 2010). Various studies have compared approaches (e.g. Schmidt et al., 2008) or modeled tradeoffs among strategies aimed at protecting potentially competing values (e.g. Kennedy et al., 2008; Ager et al., 2010).

Box 1 Key concepts from fire simulation studies.

(Schmidt et al., 2008; Collins et al., 2009, 2010, 2011a, 2011b; Finney et al., 2007; Ager et al., 2007; Moghaddas et al., 2010; Syphard et al., 2011):

- When treatments can be strategically placed (whether informed by knowledge of local fire patterns or through spatial optimization algorithms), reducing fuels on a portion of the landscape can substantially alter fire behavior on the larger landscape. For example, with as little as 15–25% of the landscape strategically treated, simulated fire size, flame length, and spread rate were reduced in treated vs. untreated scenarios (Ager et al., 2007, 2010; Collins et al., 2010; Moghaddas et al., 2010; Ritchie et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008).
- In studies that simulated a range of treated area, increasing area treated improved protection of the whole landscape, but with a tendency for diminishing returns. For example, in Ager et al. (2007), a non-linear response to the amount of area treated to protect existing northern spotted owl (NSO, *Strix occidentalis caurina*) habitat was evident: treating 20% of the non-owl habitat area reduced the probability of habitat loss by 50%; doubling the treated area to 40% reduced the probability of habitat loss by 75%.
- When ≥50% but less than the full area was available for treatment (due to reserved areas), randomly placed treatments necessitated a substantially greater treatment area than optimized treatments to achieve the same effect (e.g., 2–3× in Finney et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008).
- When the proportion reserved from treatment due to land allocation (e.g., wilderness, roadless, riparian buffers) approached 45%, random and optimized treatment approaches did not differ; i.e., there was no effect of optimization (Finney et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008).

Moghaddas et al. (2010) and Collins et al. incorporated actual landscape fuel treatment networks in their studies. The addition of DFPZ's coupled with spatial linkage to earlier fuel reduction treatments lowered the total area burned by 40%, compared to pretreatment conditions, with the greatest reduction in area affected by moderate and high flame lengths. Conditional burn probability was reduced by 21–32% in California spotted owl (CASPO) habitat; however, when those closed-canopy, multi-layered forests did burn under post-treatment conditions, the modeled proportion of active vs. passive crown fire was 2–3 times greater than that in the DFPZ's. Schmidt et al. (2008), Prichard et al. (2010), and Prichard and Kennedy (2014) found similarly that simulated and actual wildfire area burned and area burned severely were reduced via the influence of earlier fuel reduction treatments (Kennedy and Johnson, 2014).

2.1.5. Navigating social and ecological trade-offs

In choosing among the options for type, intensity, size, and placement or pattern of fuel treatments, there are often social and ecological trade-offs associated with either reducing potential fire behavior or protecting other resources (see *Strategy 7*). Thus, in some instances it is not possible to locate fuel treatments so as to optimize effects on fire behavior (Collins et al., 2010; Moghaddas et al., 2010). Under these circumstances, treating a much larger area in non-optimal areas becomes the trade-off (Finney et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008), unless prescribed burning alone or in combination with understory thinning can be allowed in otherwise protected areas. We note that prescribed burning alone in many reserve areas is not realistic due to the high initial hazard of active or passive crown fire.

Land allocation is often a significant factor when treating federal forest lands, particularly where fixed area reserves are used to allocate habitat for protected species (e.g., spotted owls – *Strix* spp., Pacific fisher, Spencer et al., 2011). Furthermore, regulations on forest management within and around nest stands and natal dens, along with those for riparian buffer zones, often affect the placement and pattern of fuel treatments to a high degree (Moghaddas et al., 2010), thwarting most efforts to spatially optimize them. This is a critical consideration when planning fuel treatments.

2.1.6. The need for ongoing fuel treatments

Since forests are living, growing systems, treatments will have a characteristic life expectancy (Collins et al., 2010, 2011a, 2011b; Hudak et al., 2011), and life expectancy will vary by treatment intensity and other environmental factors. A single treatment will not permanently "fix" the problem, even where treatment intensity is high (e.g., a large basal area reduction). As the time since treatment lengthens, tree and understory growth responses rebuild fuel load, fuel ladders, and surface and canopy fuel continuity (Agee and Skinner, 2005; Collins et al., 2010, 2013; Miller et al., 2009); without follow-up action, treatment ability to influence fire behavior declines (Vaillant et al., 2009; Stephens et al., 2012b). Where recurring frequent fires once maintained low fire hazard conditions, the continued suppression of fire today necessitates regular planned burning on par with the natural fire frequency. Thus, the design of landscape-level fuel treatments involves either spatially optimizing treatments where practicable, or treating a large fraction of the landscape initially, and then subsequently using managed wildfire or prescribed burning treatments to maintain treatment effectiveness (Finney et al., 2007). Both approaches are significant investments in land management that have yet to be realized over large landscapes.

2.1.7. Operational limitations on treatment placement

In addition to ecological considerations to treatment placement, there are practical considerations as well. For example, roadless, wilderness, and other administratively withdrawn areas, where new road construction is neither feasible nor desirable, can constrain treatment methods that may be considered. Remaining methods (e.g., prescribed burning) may not be feasibly applied due to surface and/or crown fuel conditions. Where thinning is a reasonable approach, slope and road access conditions will drive logging and varding systems, each of which are significant cost considerations. Even where road access is possible, and slopes are gentle enough to allow for relatively low cost thinning and ground-based yarding systems, the available understory timber may be of insufficient value or quality to recover treatment costs. Moreover, mill infrastructure has declined dramatically over the last 30 yr making hauling costs often prohibitive. Considerations like these will place significant constraints on where treatments can be located and affordable. In many cases, restorative treatments may require subsidy. Decision support tools would be helpful to sorting out these operational considerations (Reynolds et al., 2014).



Fig. 7. Canopy bulk density (CBD) profiles as affected by the presence of living large (>80 cm) old growth trees or large stumps, where old growth trees were removed. Old growth (OG) is defined as older than 150 years. OG < 8/> 8 = fewer/more than 8 living large OG trees or stumps per 0.2 ha plot (8 large trees/0.2 ha plot = 40 large trees/ha). Stumps larger than 80 cm were assumed to have been living large OG trees that significantly influenced development of the existing canopy at the time of measurement. Bars = standard errors of the mean of 5 plots <8, and 9 plots >8). Figure is adapted from data presented in Perry et al. (2004). Red lines represent the height of the maximum CBD.

2.2. Strategy 2: Protecting and restoring large and old, early successional tree abundance

Large, old trees of early seral species were a core constituent of many historical MSForests, especially those that saw frequent low and MSFires. Mature, relatively open forests composed of *l*arge and *o*ld, *e*arly seral *t*rees (hereafter, LOEST) with limited nearby fuel ladders are highly resistant to active crownfires, especially when coupled with low surface fuel loads (Agee and Skinner, 2005; Binkley et al., 2007; Thompson and Spies, 2010; Stephens et al., 2009; Perry et al., 2011; Taylor et al., 2014; Weaver, 1959, 1961). "Large" and "old" are relative terms and will vary depending on tree species, forest type, topographic and edaphic conditions, and disturbance history (Van Pelt, 2008). LOEST are missing from many MSForests because of past selection cutting, which often targeted these trees.

Retaining LOEST of fire-resistant species is one of four principles Agee and Skinner (2005) provide in support of fuel reduction treatments. LOEST directly influence potential fire effects; for example, Belote et al. (2015) showed that different tree species and sizes had very different 10-year post-fire survival probabilities in Northern Rockies mixed-conifer forests, with large diameter western larch being the most fire resistant. These tree-level differences scaledup to influence fire severity and effects at plot and stand levels (Belote et al., 2015), and the observed MSFire effects were largely explained by variation in the pre-fire abundance of large western larch.

2.2.1. Added benefits of retaining large, old early seral trees

The effect of LOEST goes beyond individual tree resistance though, as large trees can influence stand structure by exerting control over understory fuels. Through shading, a canopy of large trees limits the size and amount of ingrowth, even when ingrowth is shade-tolerant. For example, a study in central Oregon found that the maximum canopy bulk density was 25% greater and 6-m lower in the canopy of 0.2-ha plots with <8 large trees (<40 large trees/ha) compared to plots with >8 large

trees (>40 large trees/ha, Fig. 7, Perry et al., 2004). If the ingrowth is flammable, as was the case in this example, the need for periodic fuels reduction would be increased by harvesting the large overstory trees.

2.2.2. Key steps to maintaining or increasing LOEST

Maintaining an extensive cover of LOEST involves three basic steps: (1) identifying environmental conditions that clearly support low and mixed-severity fire regimes; (2) protecting existing LOEST from crown fires, logging, and other stresses (e.g., drought and bark beetles) that can lead to mortality; and (3) developing future cohorts of LOEST at fire-resistant densities. Fire history studies and landscape reconstructions from historical aerial photography are helpful to identifying the (characteristics of) sites that normally supported low- and mixed-severity fire regimes (e.g., Lydersen and North, 2012; Merschel et al., 2014). At a minimum, protecting LOEST from crown fire involves removing (where feasible) fuel ladders and heavy surface fuels from their immediate vicinity, and in the broader surrounding landscape. Developing future cohorts of LOEST can involve natural regeneration processes following wild or prescribed fire, replanting desirable early seral species where preferred seed trees are generally absent, and newer approaches that recognize the value of maintaining and creating tree clump and gap diversity during stand development (sensu Oliver and Larson, 1996, see also Churchill et al., 2013; Hessburg et al., 2015; Larson and Churchill, 2012; Lindenmayer and Franklin, 2002; North et al., 2009; Fahey and Puettmann, 2008; Knapp et al., 2012). A logical starting point for increasing the presence of LOEST would be to protect early seral trees over a minimum size or estimated age (Franklin and Johnson, 2012; Franklin et al., 2013). Landscape assessments are also useful to document areas of LOEST depletion (e.g., see Hann et al., 1997; Hessburg et al., 1999a, 2000a; SNEP, 1996; Raphael et al., 2001; Ritchie and Harcksen, 2005). Where lacking, a strategy could be built around the existing distributions of LOEST (Kaufmann et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2013).

Box 2 What to do with older late-seral trees?

While an ample presence of LOEST provides a relatively resistant landscape matrix, retaining older late-seral trees (e.g., Abies spp.) trees >150 yr, especially in valley bottom and north aspect settings, protects extant genetic diversity, unique tree attributes (e.g., cavities and epicormic branches), and pathological decadence that accrues with age (Van Pelt, 2008, cf. Miesel et al., 2009). Older, shadetolerant trees also provide critical habitat for certain species (Bull et al., 1992)². However, in many MSForests, the abundance of both young and relatively mature late-seral trees has increased dramatically during the 20th-century, filling in formerly open-canopy forests. For example, in plots within the mixed-conifer zone of the Deschutes National Forest, the ratio of white fir (A. concolor) to ponderosa pine (P. ponderosa) was 0.15:1, 0.6:1, 6:1, and 9:1 in the 200-150, 150-100, 100-50, and 50-0 yr age classes, respectively, with some individual white fir <100 vr old attaining DBHs of up to 60 cm (from Perry et al., 2004). In some areas, widespread replacement of early- by lateseral trees has significantly altered disturbance patterns and successional pathways, and produced an overall younger forested landscape that is more synchronized for large-scale disturbance. For these reasons, removal of immature and relatively mature, large, late-seral trees is justified, although it is beyond the scope of this paper to address where this will be true.

2.3. Strategy 3: Expanding use of prescribed and wildfires to restructure forests

2.3.1. Mechanical treatments are not an option in some forests

Portions of many landscapes are administratively withdrawn as National Parks or Wilderness areas, or they are too steep and remote for mechanical treatments to be a practical means of achieving restoration objectives (North et al., 2012). This is true over fairly large areas of the western US (e.g., see Habeck, 1976; Parks et al., 2014, 2015a; Miller et al., 2012; North et al., 2012, 2015). Under these circumstances, the use of either prescribed or wildfire then becomes a primary means to alter stand structure and reduce surface and ladder fuels (North et al., 2012), especially where the need of restoration is clearly established (Naficy et al., 2016). Unless existing barriers to application are modified (e.g., see the excellent legal review by Engel, 2013), it is unlikely that prescribed fire will be used in the near term to treat sufficiently large wildland areas that are upwind from human populations centers (Quinn-Davidson and Varner, 2012; North et al., 2012).

2.3.2. Managed wildfire is a promising approach

Resulting severity patterns from numerous 20th-century wildfires in northwestern California suggest that using managed wildfire under appropriate burning conditions may be a promising means to restore some aspects of forest resilience (see Box 3, Miller et al., 2012). Evidence for this approach is broadly apparent in landscapes that have experienced some repeat fire in the past century, at patch (Fulé and Laughlin, 2007; Larson et al., 2013) and landscape (Parks et al., 2014, 2015a) scales, in the Gila/Aldo Leopold Wilderness of New Mexico, on the north rim

of the northern Arizona Grand Canyon, in the Frank Church Wilderness of Idaho, in the Klamath Mountains of northern California, in the Selway-Bitterroot Wilderness of Idaho and Montana, and in Glacier National Park and the Great Bear, Scapegoat, and Bob Marshall Wilderness Complexes of northwest Montana. For example, during outbreaks of wildfire in northwestern California since the late 1980s (e.g., 1987, 1999, 2006, 2008, 2012), fires in the steep terrain of the Klamath Mountains became large due to their sheer number and the extremely rugged topography. Under these circumstances, suppression resources can be overwhelmed, and fires can burn for weeks to months under less than severe conditions. The resulting fires often produced topographically driven severity patterns, much like those described from fire history reconstructions (Taylor and Skinner, 1998, 2003; Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995; limerson and Iones. 2003: Skinner et al., 2006: Miller et al., 2012). Parks et al. (2014, 2015a) similarly found that previous wildfires limited subsequent fire spread in all four of their study areas, but the effect eroded with time since fire. They also found that the ability of fire to regulate subsequent fire growth was substantially reduced during extreme fire weather conditions (see also Collins et al., 2009). It appears that purposefully planning for the use of managed wildfire under these less than severe burning conditions would help to achieve long term goals of ecological restoration and high-severity fire risk reduction (Miller et al., 2012; North et al., 2012).

Box 3 An enlarged role for managed surface and crown fires.

Much of the work of restoring landscapes will likely need to be done using managed wildfires over large areas, with more intensive silvicultural and prescribed burning activities in key areas that require spatial precision of outcomes (e.g., Miller et al., 2012; North et al., 2012, 2014). Cutting trees can emulate fire effects on tree density and layering, but it cannot reproduce the effects of fire on nutrient cycling, snag creation, and fuel reduction (Stephens et al., 2012a, 2012b; Mclver et al., 2013). In the past, tree cutting often resulted in the removal of now scarce large-sized trees to cover costs of harvesting, and it reduced snag densities to meet logging safety requirements, compacted soils, and left residual fine fuels on site that could promote future fire spread. Many of these effects can be avoided today by focusing attention on thinning out understories, removing the smaller trees that make up the bulk of the ingrowth, and with application of modern harvesting practices, improved seasonal timing, and better and more lightweight equipment. But without follow-up burn treatments, there is little chance that tree cutting alone will mimic fire effects for all other essential ecosystem functions (Schwilk et al., 2009). In contrast, management ignited or managed wildfires burning under moderate fire weather conditions can often accomplish ecological objectives without tree cutting, as has been observed in wilderness and roadless areas, and other managed forests where mixed- and high-severity fires naturally dominate. We emphasize that for managed fire to be effective, it must be allowed to burn under moderate weather conditions. If fire only occurs under extreme weather conditions, as has happened in many recent wildfires, fire effects will tend to be severe and not achieve desired ecological outcomes.

² (Bull et al. (1992) provide management guidelines.)

2.4. Strategy 4: Using topography to tailor restorative treatments to the landscape

2.4.1. Topography strongly influences site productivity and fire severity patterns

A key consideration in development of restoration prescriptions is the topography of the landscapes in question. Topography strongly influences plant communities, site productivity, fire behavior, and fire severity patterns over large landscapes (Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995; Jimerson and Jones, 2003; Lydersen and North, 2012; Hessburg et al., 2015). For example, a typical current pattern in California is for more severe fire effects to be manifested in mid- to upper-slope positions on south and west facing slopes, and less severe effects in lower slope positions, and on north- and east-facing slopes (Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995; Taylor and Skinner, 1998; Skinner et al., 2006; Holden et al., 2009; North et al., 2009; Lydersen and North, 2012; Harris and Taylor, 2015). However, the strength of topographic effects varies by ecoregion, because of unique influences and interactions among geology, geomorphology, and prevailing wind and weather patterns (Habeck, 1976; Neilson, 1986, 1995; Pearson and Dawson, 2003; Collins and Skinner, 2014). Nonetheless, the effects of topography on severity patterns generally appear to be manifest in a gradient: the strongest effects are in steep, complex, rugged landscapes, and effects lessen as relief becomes gentler (Collins and Skinner, 2014).

2.4.2. Frequent burning of historical MSForests reduced the likelihood of severe fires

Many studies have shown that MSForests burned frequently, and these fires maintained conditions that were less likely to experience severe fire effects. Several recent studies have shown that the risk of high-severity fire can be substantially reduced following initial prescribed fire treatments (Baker, 1994; Stephens, 1998; Stephens et al., 2009; Vaillant et al., 2009; Fulé et al., 2012). However, this advantage is short-lived if not followed up within a few years with subsequent prescribed burns (Baker, 1994; Skinner, 2005; Schmidt et al., 2008). Understory trees and shrubs, killed in the first burn, soon after become surface fuel. If these areas are not reburned, fire hazard can again become high (Skinner, 2005). This is not the case for areas that have been mechanically thinned prior to burning; thinning removes the trees that would otherwise be killed by surface fire, especially where activity fuels are burned or otherwise treated (e.g., chipped) after thinning (Stephens et al., 2012b). Furthermore, the potential influence of topography on fire severity patterns can be reduced by decades of fire suppression and fuel accumulation (e.g., see Harris and Taylor, 2015). From a management perspective, this work indicates that in some locations: (1) numerous low- to mixed-severity burns would be needed to reduce the total amount and connectivity of surface fuels and thin forest canopies before wildfires could be used to regulate the successional mosaic; and (2) topography can be used as a guide to prioritize locations with a greater local risk of high-severity fire, and where fuels reduction would have a wider effect on potential fire severity across landscapes (Taylor and Skinner, 1998; Hessburg et al., 2015; Holden et al., 2009; North et al., 2009; Lydersen and North, 2012). Public sentiment concerning intentional addition of prescribed fire smoke makes this a formidable but worthwhile challenge (Engel, 2013).

2.5. Strategy 5: Rehabilitating plantations

2.5.1. Plantations may be a good source of future LOEST

In formerly clearcut forests (current plantations), and in selectively harvested areas that lack LOEST but have sufficient populations of well-adapted, early seral species, variable density thinning can accelerate the development of LOEST and restore patchiness at multiple scales (e.g., Churchill et al., 2013; Harrod et al., 1999; Knapp et al., 2012; Larson and Churchill, 2012; Ritchie, 2005). Retaining ponderosa and Jeffrey pines, western larch, Douglas-fir, and other early seral tree species such as incense cedar (*Calocedrus decurrens*), sugar pine, and western white pine, especially the larger and older cohorts, will help to restore diversity of early seral species, large tree structure, and resistance to severe wildfires. Subsequently these patches can be thinned from below and/or under-burned to further develop fire tolerance (Ritchie, 2005).

2.5.2. Plantation thinning can accelerate growth and development of fire resistance

While little may be done to reduce immediate fire hazard in young plantations (Stephens and Moghaddas, 2005; Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995), thinning increases growth rates of remaining trees and accelerates the development of more fire-resistant boles and crowns, especially among the most firetolerant species (Ritchie, 2005). Reducing average tree diameter of younger stands (thinning from above) would be contrary to a goal of restoring a more fire- and drought-tolerant landscape.

Variable density thinning will not be the best approach to restoring LOEST on selectively harvested sites where early seral species have been eliminated. In these cases, regenerating new vigorous cohorts of early seral species will be necessary. Variable retention treatments (Franklin et al., 2007) can also be used, however, gaps must be sufficiently large to regenerate and establish dominance of the desired early seral species (Bigelow et al., 2011; York et al., 2004). Mixed- and high-severity fire, whether prescribed or managed wildfire, offer another approach to achieving openings large enough to regenerate early seral species. Whether mechanical or fire approaches are used, planting of the desired species will often be necessary to ensure successful establishment, as seed source is often limited in these situations. These treatments should be integrated with strategies that restore early-seral habitats (*Strategy 9*).

2.5.3. Plantation boundaries are often inconsistent with the topographic template

One significant impact of prior clearcut harvesting and plantation development is local and regional fragmentation of closed-canopy, late-successional and old forest conditions. Before plantations, patterns of ridges and valley-bottoms and north- and south-facing aspects were a natural physical template for patterns of structure and composition, tree size and age, density, and layering (Skinner et al., 2006; Hessburg et al., 2015; North et al., 2009; Stine et al., 2014). Closed-canopy and multi-layered tree conditions were characteristic of north aspects and valley bottoms, while south aspects and ridgetops supported more open canopies with grass, forb, and shrub understory conditions. Plantations and broad patterns of selection cutting had the effect of decoupling these patterns from their topographic template. Low thinning treatments described above can be applied beyond plantation margins to minimize hard edges and tailor more characteristic density, layering and composition conditions back to the topography.

2.5.4. Wildfire effects on current plantations broadly vary

The effects of wildfire on current plantations vary depending on: (1) methods of post-harvest fuels treatments and site preparation; (2) the species mix of understory vegetation; (3) plantation size; and (4) how well fuels have been managed in the surrounding forest (Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995; Skinner and Weatherspoon, 1996). In the Klamath Mountains, for example, broadcast burning before tree planting gave plantations greater long-term protection than either pile burning or no fuels treatment (cf. Thompson et al., 2007). Broadcast burning removed slash and encouraged understory vegetation regrowth that was less likely to burn than that associated with piling and burning. Creating plantations in untreated fuelbeds offered the least protection against future severe fire behavior. When plantations were generally small (i.e., <20-ha), the method of vegetation and fuels management in the surrounding forest matrix was as important as that occurring within the plantations themselves (Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995; Skinner and Weatherspoon, 1996). When plantations were >50-ha, as is typical where large, severely burned patches are replanted, the method of vegetation and fuels management within plantations was more important than that of the surrounding forest matrix (Skinner and Weatherspoon, 1996).

2.5.5. Plantation thinning and slash disposal should go hand-in-hand Because thinning generates logging slash that can increase severe fire behavior (Agee and Skinner, 2005; Huff et al., 1995; Raymond and Peterson, 2005; Stephenson, 1998; Stephens et al., 2009), treating surface fuel accumulations is an essential part of reducing risk of severe fires. Pile and broadcast burning after thinning can reduce surface fuels to acceptable levels (Ritchie et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008; Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995). Whole tree harvesting has the advantage of leaving limited activity fuels behind (Stephens et al., 2009), but is not operationally feasible in many areas due to limited access (North et al., 2015) and low availability of biomass or wood chip markets. Moreover, the nutrient concentration of crowns is significantly higher than other above-ground tree components (Perry et al., 2008); thus their wholesale removal can degrade future site productivity.

Box 4 Role of hardwoods in MSForests.

Treating fuel ladders requires some caution in the mixed-conifer/broadleaf forests (Perry et al., 2011; Lake and Long, 2014). Because of their crown structure and foliage characteristics, mature hardwoods rarely act as fuel ladders, and in some cases may limit crown fire. Hence, cutting them can exacerbate fire risk, rather than reduce it. Moreover, hardwoods often function as important habitat (Flack, 1976; Zielinski, 2014) and rapid response soil stabilizers, and can provide Native American preferred foods and other subsistence resources (Anderson, 2005; Codding et al., in press; Lake and Long, 2014). A desirable level of understory broadleaf trees will depend on initial density, but excessive removal is unwarranted. The same caution applies to any forest type that contains relatively nonflammable deciduous hardwood species. In the case of relatively pure patches of aspen (Populus tremuloides), cottonwood (Populus trichocarpa & Populus fremontii), and birch (Betula papyrifera & Betula occidentalis), fire exclusion has dramatically reduced their abundance, patch sizes, and vigor (Hessburg et al., 1999a). For their influence on habitat for certain species, landscape biodiversity, and fire behavior (Kuhn et al., 2011; Shinneman et al., 2013), there are clear advantages to revitalizing existing clones and patches, or to restoring their abundance (Jones et al., 2005) near wet meadows and seeps, in areas of seasonally high water table, and in floodplain and riparian areas (Bartos and Campbell, 1998: Campbell and Bartos, 2001; Seager et al., 2013).

2.6. Strategy 6: Creating and maintaining successional heterogeneity

Successional pattern heterogeneity naturally derives from a characteristic pyrodiversity; it provides habitat for pre-forest, early-, mid-, late-successional and old forest associates, and influences the spread and intensification of disturbances and other processes (Keane et al., 2009; Perry, 1988; Raffa et al., 2008; Moritz et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2011). Restoring the patchy composition and structure that is a byproduct of a more characteristic pyrodiversity of MSFire landscapes requires recreating or maintaining spatial heterogeneity at all appropriate scales (Franklin and Van Pelt, 2004; Franklin et al., 2002; Lydersen et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2013; Skinner, 1995; Harrod et al., 1999; Hessburg et al., 2010, 2015; North et al., 2009; Perry et al., 2011)^{3,4}. Simply summarizing the amount of area in the different successional classes to meet some desired proportions is not appropriate because that leaves out critical aspects related to patch sizes and configuration.

2.6.1. Spatial heterogeneity from MSFires is important at several scales

MSFires not only influence tree clump and gap sizes at relatively fine, within-patch scales, but also the patchiness of local and regional landscapes, by influencing landscape patchiness of physiognomic types, forest overstory and understory canopy cover, species composition, variability in patch size, tree age, density, and canopy layering. The subregional context of landscapes is also important. Large patches are often found in mesic environments with gentle to rolling topography, while smaller patches are found in highly-dissected terrains that exhibit a summer-dry, Mediterranean climate.

2.6.2. The importance of fine-scale heterogeneity

Within patch heterogeneity provides fine-scale habitat for preforest, early-, mid-, late-successional and old forest associates, and influences the flow of fine-scale processes, including fire (Allen et al., 2002; Binkley et al., 2007; Stephens et al., 2010). Larson and Churchill (2012) reviewed the literature on fine-scale, within-patch patterns and mechanisms of pattern formation for fire-frequent pine and mixed-conifer forests in western North America. They interpreted this information in the context of finescale pattern restoration and its importance to overall landscape restoration.

Next-generation fire models that are capable of very fine-scale (1–10 m) spatial representations of fuels, winds, and fire behavior reveal important effects of heterogeneous tree canopy patterns, canopy openings, and tree clumps on fire behavior (Parsons et al., 2011; Pimont et al., 2011). To date, studies at a patch scale indicate that within-patch tree spatial patterns influence complex feedbacks among fine fuels (understory vegetation and tree litter) and fire behavior, which in turn influence species composition, future vegetation growth, and fuel accumulation (Rebertus et al., 1989; Thaxton and Platt, 2006; Hiers et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009).

³ Historically, the stand concept would poorly define MSForests, which were better described as extensive forest mosaics distinguished by both local and regional pattern heterogeneity (Franklin and van Pelt 2004; Hessburg et al. 2015; Kaufmann et al., 2007). Contemporary patterns on public lands reveal primary influence by 5–20 ha stand-scale patterns; an artifact of intensive timber management and size-restricted treatment area.

⁴ We do not suggest cutting LOEST to achieve patchiness, an action likely to increases future risk of severe fire (e.g., see Perry et al., 2004). Rather, spatial heterogeneity would be shaped by working in plantations or intermediate aged patches where shade-tolerant, late seral tree species have captured the site from early seral species.

2.6.3. Re-creating fine-scale heterogeneity

Irregularly spaced trees, large and small openings, and resulting variation in fuelbeds all limit the potential for crown fire initiation and spread, and reinforce similar post-fire vegetation patterns (Beaty and Taylor, 2007; Pimont et al., 2011; Stephens et al., 2008) by means of a fine-scale, naturally occurring version of strategically placed fuel treatments (Churchill et al., 2013, in press). Spatially varying within-patch structure and composition also hinders bark beetle mass attack by disrupting chemical signaling among prospective mates, and breaking up continuity of susceptible hosts, tree sizes, and ages (Fettig et al., 2007).

An increasing number of studies from western US MSForests are available to define historical tree clump and gap variability of various forest types (Churchill et al., 2013, 2014; Fry et al., 2014; Harrod et al., 1999; Hopkins et al., 2014; Kaufmann et al., 2007; Knapp et al., 2013; Larson et al., 2012; Larson and Churchill, 2012; Lydersen and North, 2012; Lydersen et al., 2013; Stephens et al., 2008; Taylor, 2010; Clyatt et al., 2016). Within patches, tree patterns are defined by uneven-aged and irregularly patchy mosaics of individual trees, tree clumps ranging from 2 to 20 or more trees, comparably sized tree gaps, and even larger openings. These mosaics persist for centuries in a highly energetic shifting system of tree clumps and gaps; gap-phase replacement is primarily driven by ongoing, patchy fire, insect, and disease mortality (Agee, 1993), and other stand dynamics processes. Patch sizes and within-patch heterogeneity vary over space and time, and by biophysical setting (Kaufmann et al., 2007). Occasionally moderate to high-severity disturbances or climate synchronization of reseeding and regeneration (North et al., 2005) reset these patch-level patterns (Arno et al., 1995; Hessburg et al., 2007). An example of persistent fine-scale dynamics in a MSForest landscape occurs in Yosemite National Park, in the central Sierra Nevada, where Scholl and Taylor (2010) found evidence for gap dynamics (<0.2-ha canopy openings) under the influence of a frequent fire regime, prior to onset of fire exclusion.

2.6.4. The importance of meso-scale heterogeneity

Numerous studies used interpretation of early, stereo, black and white aerial photography to better understand variation in landscape patch patterns and development of stand structure in relation to fire history (Habeck, 1976; Hessburg et al., 1999a, 1999b, 1999d, 2000a, 2007; Taylor and Skinner, 1998, 2003; Beaty and Taylor, 2001, 2008; Bekker and Taylor, 2001, 2010). Nearly all studies found a strong influence of topography on patch and structure patterns (discussed above).

2.6.5. Re-creating and protecting meso-scale heterogeneity

Like fine-scale patterns, meso-scale successional patterns within local (e.g., 10^4 to 10^5 ha) and regional landscapes (e.g., 10^5 to 10^6 ha) are a second foundation of resistant and resilient MSForests (Hessburg et al., 2005, 2007, 2015; Keane et al., 2009; Keane, 2012; McGarigal and Romme, 2012; Moritz et al., 2011, 2013; Perry et al., 2011; Stine et al., 2014; Wiens et al., 2012). Successional patterns arise from patterns of disturbances, environmental conditions, and other ecological processes (Habeck, 1976).

Varying patterns of physiognomic conditions (sparse woodland, pre-forest, forest, herbland, and shrubland) are also clearly apparent in most historical MSForests as a consequence of disturbance frequency and intensity, and climatic influences (Hessburg et al., 1999a, 1999b; Lenihan et al., 2003; Maxwell et al., 2014; Millar et al., 2007; Neilson, 1986, 1995). For example, historically it was common for some MSForest settings to remain for a time in alternate woodland, shrubland, or grassland states due to relatively high fire frequency, coupled with occasional high-severity fire (Beisner et al., 2003; Odion et al., 2010). But with a warming climate creating conditions for more high-severity fire (Westerling et al., 2003; Lenihan et al., 2006), and the occurrence of larger and more frequent high-severity burned areas (Miller et al., 2009, 2012; Harris and Taylor, 2015), there is now a greater potential for severely burned patches to be converted to these alternative stable states (Lauvaux et al., 2016; Long et al., 2014a; Harris and Taylor, 2015; Perry et al., 2011; Savage and Mast, 2005). Typically this occurs where successive fires occur over the same area, especially when the initial fire burns with high severity effects and causes a transition to a grass or shrub-dominated community (van Wagtendonk et al., 2012). Documented examples are widespread in the Siskiyou Mountains (Silver Fire of 1987 followed by the Biscuit Fire of 2003), the Klamath Mountains (King-Titus Fire of 1987 followed by the Panther Fire of 2008), the northern Sierra Nevada/southern Cascade Range (Storrie Fire of 2000 followed by the Chips Fire of 2012 – see Coppoletta et al. (in press)), and in the central Sierra Nevada (Stanislaus Complex of 1987 followed by the Rim Fire of 2013).

2.6.6. The importance of understanding the historical range of variability (HRV) in meso-scale successional patterns

Many authors have focused attention on better understanding historical variability in meso-scale successional patterns (hereafter, the HRV) and its central role in landscape restoration (e.g., Allen et al., 2002; Hessburg et al., 1999b, 1999d; Landres et al., 1999; Morgan et al., 1994; Swanson et al., 1994; Swetnam et al., 1999; Millar and Woolfenden, 1999; Keane et al., 2009; Moritz et al., 2013; Wiens et al., 2012). Most discussions point to a pivotal role of using HRV information to guide landscape restoration, *especially to understand how meso-scale successional patterns provided critical context for the variability of the local wildfire regime*. It has also become important for managers to use HRV information to learn how landscape local conditions have changed to the present day under the influence of local management regimes.

2.6.7. Historical fire regimes maintained forest cover and density at levels far below carrying capacity

Across many MSForest landscapes, historical fire regimes maintained overall forest density and biomass at levels far below carrying capacities (e.g., see Hessburg et al., 1999a, 2000a, 2005), thus providing a substantial "buffer" against a periodically warming climate. A surprising amount of area capable of producing forest cover was in fact in grass-, shrub-, or woodland conditions (see *Strategy 9*). One is left to wonder whether the natural resilience mechanism of the local forest fire regime was in large part driven by a large area of non-forest life forms interspersed among the forest patches, with their flashy surface fuelbeds, low energy release, short flame lengths, low fireline intensity, and rapid rate of spread when burned—a sort of benign to moderate fire delivery system.

Nearly all authors working with HRV estimates suggest that climatic and environmental changes and introductions of non-native species should temper to some degree the use of HRV information going forward. Instead of recreating a picture of the past, managers can use knowledge of past fire regimes and supporting successional conditions to build a more resilient landscape.

2.6.7.1. HRV spatial pattern conditions can be derived empirically or by simulation techniques. Both empirical and simulation approaches have been devised for predicting HRV spatial pattern conditions (Beukema et al., 2003; Hemstrom et al., 2004, 2007; Keane, 2012; Maxwell et al., 2014; McGarigal and Romme, 2012). Reviews by Cary et al. (2006) and Keane et al. (2004, 2006) highlight four dozen landscape succession and disturbance models from around the world. Keane et al. (2004) provide a key for selecting the most appropriate landscape succession model for management and research applications based on operational characteristics needed by users.



Fig. 8. NEXUS (Scott and Reinhardt, 2001) simulations of Crowning Index (wind speed required to initiate active crownfire) as affected by canopy bulk density and slope percent. Late summer fuel moisture conditions are shown. Canopy bulk densities represent a measured range on the Deschutes National Forest, central Oregon. Adapted from Perry et al. (2008).

Relatively few studies use empirically reconstructed HRV spatial pattern conditions. The available studies compare vegetation attributes from early and late 20th-century, stereo aerial photographs to determine the key changes in landscape patterns (Everett et al., 1994a, 1994b; Lehmkuhl et al., 1994). Huff et al. (1995) documented corresponding changes in fuel patterns, potential fire behavior, and smoke production. The work of Everett et al. (1994a, 1994b) was roughly tripled in a subsequent project, the 50 million ha Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP, Hann et al., 1997; Hessburg et al., 1999a, 1999c, 2000a; Raphael et al., 2001), which is home to extensive MSForests. Subsequently, Hessburg and others (Gärtner et al., 2008; Hessburg et al., 1999b, 1999d, 2004, 2013, 2014; Reynolds and Hessburg, 2005) developed operational decision support tools for estimating departures of contemporary landscape pattern conditions from both HRV and climate change analogue conditions for the mid-21st century, which they called the future range of variation (FRV, Hessburg et al., 2013, 2014, 2015). Spatially explicit prescriptions for restoring patterns of large landscapes are derived from these landscape evaluations. These decision support tools are in operational use today on three eastern Washington National Forests (Hessburg et al., 2013).

2.6.8. Landscape prescriptions are needed

Scientifically grounded landscape prescriptions are needed to create habitat and successional patterns at local and regional landscape scales that move landscapes toward conditions that confer climate and disturbance resilience, while creating functional, well-connected habitat networks for a broad array of native aquatic and terrestrial species (Hessburg et al., 2015). A landscape prescription should provide clearly articulated restoration objectives, target ranges for both total area (proportion of landscape) and patch size distributions of successional and habitat types, and specific guidance on how and where to adjust the spatial arrangement of patches (Hessburg et al., 2004, 2013; North et al., 2012; Perry et al., 2011). Local landscape prescriptions integrate and provide guidance on how to align different successional patches with the topographic template and how to protect and increase abundance of LOEST. In addition, terrestrial and aquatic habitat and road system restoration opportunities can be linked in local landscape prescriptions to take advantage of simultaneous problem-solving opportunities (Rieman et al., 2010). For example, local prescriptions can identify harmful road segments and fish passage barriers, opportunities to expand local fish strongholds and rebuild larger, more productive fish and wildlife habitat patches (*sensu* Rieman et al., 2000, 2010).

Box 5 On using historical reference conditions.

At least 4 caveats apply to using historical reference conditions as management guidelines:

- Mimicking historical conditions is not an end in itself, but is a means of accomplishing ecological objectives, and therefore appropriate only when it meets those objectives (Keane et al., 2009; Stephens et al., 2010; Wiens et al., 2012).
- The true value of historical information is in understanding how interacting fire and climate, and their variability through time and space, influenced ecological patterns of forest structure and successional conditions. This information can provide valuable direction for the complex process of ecological goal setting in management planning and implementation.
- Pervasive climate and land-use changes imply that past conditions may not fully reflect future climate-vegeta tion-disturbance-topography linkages (Hessburg et al., 2015; Millar, 2014; Moritz et al., 2013). Hence, one of the challenges may be deciding the degree to which past lessons are relevant to future management. Relevance will depend on goals, reasonable expectations of the future climate, and resources required to attaining those goals.
- Because regional landscapes are highly altered, restoration restricted to local landscapes is insufficient to address large-scale restoration needs (Hessburg et al., 2015; Stine et al., 2014).

2.6.9. Determining ranges of target tree densities

Risks from fire, drought, and insects are evaluated with metrics such as crown bulk density, crown base height, basal area, stand density index, and leaf area index. Developing strategies to achieve successional heterogeneity at multiple scales requires knowledge of how these measures relate to site conditions and ecological processes, including habitat values for wildlife communities.

Keane et al. (2005) evaluated relationships between crown bulk density and several measures of canopy gap fraction (\approx 1-canopy closure) across a range of sites in the western U.S. They found that for canopy gap fractions <0.3 (i.e., canopy cover >70%), crown bulk density ranged from 0.15 kg m⁻³ to slightly <0.3 kg m⁻³. For perspective, Fig. 8 shows NEXUS simulations of Crowning Index (critical wind speed to initiate active crown fire) as affected by crown bulk density. Crowning index decreases (i.e., vulnerability to crown fire increases) rapidly as crown bulk density increases to \sim 0.15 kg m⁻³, and more slowly with further increases. Based on the findings of Keane et al. (2005) and the NEXUS simulations, crown bulk density values in stands with \geq 70% canopy closure will crown in winds of approximately 10–30 km h^{-1} , depending on slope steepness (cf. Moghaddas et al., 2010). In such cases, managers have the option to either accept a relatively high probability that closed-canopy forests are at risk of crown fire initiation and spread, or try to improve the odds by lowering the risk. There are two general situations that apply: (1) closed-canopy stands have few or no fuel ladders, in which case crowns are threatened by fire coming from adjacent stands (conditional crown fire); and (2) stands have sufficient fuel ladders (and/or surface fuels) to threaten



Fig. 9. Canopy fraction burned as a function of stand basal area (BA) and wind speed for two scenarios on the eastern slopes of the Oregon Cascades. This figure (a) is from 13 forest plots with measured crown bulk density (CBD), crown base height (CBH), and BA. This figure (b) is from the same plots but with all trees less than 20 cm DBH excluded from the CBD, CBH, and BA calculations (simulating a low thinning). Isolines represent crown fraction burned as calculated using NEXUS (Scott and Reinhardt, 2001), assuming late summer fuel moistures and using actual plot slope (which ranged from 0% to 13%). Circles represent simulated combinations of BA and wind speed. Data are from Perry et al. (2004). Notice in this example that canopy fraction burned at a given wind speed becomes strongly dependent on basal area. This will often but not always be the case. Exceptional examples will include true firs with relatively low CBH values, and stands with low BA but significant ladder fuels.

crowns by fire that moves upward from the ground within the stand, in which case risks come from both within and without. The former case is exemplified by closed-canopy forests with high levels of large conifer cover and low levels of understory shrub cover within the 2002 Biscuit Fire area in southwest Oregon and northern California, which had the lowest risk of crown fire (Thompson and Spies, 2009). The latter case occurs widely in current MSForests.

2.6.10. Determining ranges of target basal area

Managing for basal area ranges has the advantage of being a straightforward and common forestry metric, but basal area measures can be relatively difficult to crosswalk to other stand structural attributes influential to evaluating crownfire risk. For example, among structurally diverse stands throughout the western US, basal area was a much weaker predictor of crown bulk density than other measures discussed earlier, but among stands with similar structures, basal area correlated reasonably well with crown bulk density (Keane et al., 2005). In another study, 74% of the variation in crown bulk density among plots on the Deschutes National Forest was explained by basal area (Perry et al., 2004). Incorporating the number of Abies spp. stems per plot explained 88% of the variation, but including the number of pines had no effect. On those same plots, crown base height correlated poorly with basal area ($R^2 = 0.22$, p = 0.088); incorporating the numbers of Abies spp. or pine stems per plot did not improve the latter correlation. Clearly, variation in crown bulk density depends on species differences in crown architecture (Box 6).

In NEXUS simulations (Scott and Reinhardt, 2001) of the canopy fraction burned under different wind speeds, in the same plots as above (Perry et al., 2004), the interaction between wind speed and basal area was either highly significant (p = 0.000) or not depending on stand structure (Fig. 9). The models depicted in Fig. 9 show that a low thinning can significantly alter the canopy fraction burned and relations between wind speed and stand basal area. In the stands as measured in the field (Fig. 9a), wind speed was the primary driver of canopy fraction burned over a wide range of basal areas greater than 20 m² ha⁻¹. With

a simulated thinning of all stems smaller than 20 cm DBH (Fig. 9b), canopy fraction burned at a given wind speed becomes strongly dependent on basal area. The implication is that in stands with abundant small trees that can act as fuel ladders, basal area is a poor predictor of crownfire risk-the ladder fuels increase risk far out of proportion to their basal area. However, in stands with few or no fuel ladders, basal area provided sufficient information to predict an integrated risk of crownfire. This will not always be the case. Note that when prioritizing stands for treatment according to risk of crownfire, both topo-edaphic factors and the canopy fuels of the surrounding landscape can modify the effect of local stand structure. We return to the latter point in Section 2.9.2. Striking examples of topo-edaphic influence are in the Klamath Mountains and Southern Cascade Range of California where complex topography leads to inversion layers that trap smoke (Robock, 1988, 1991) and shade lower slope positions from solar heating, resulting in reduced fire severity in lower slope positions (Skinner et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2012).

Box 6 Low thinning, leaving tree islands, and reducing crown base height and crown bulk density.

Thinning from below to reduce basal area can substantially increase crown base height because late-seral trees with larger live crown lengths will often be removed. Leaving patches of late-seral trees for "habitat islands" will retain some ladder fuels and areas of high crown bulk density that contribute to crown fire initiation and spread via individual tree or group torching. The likelihood of active crownfire might be lowered by buffering habitat islands with areas of relatively low crown bulk density and reduction of surface fuels, basically a microcosm of the landscape strategy discussed earlier. The degree to which such buffers might reduce the habitat value of the habitat islands or the likelihood of active crownfire is unknown. On the Klamath Indian Reservation, Johnson et al. (2013) recommended allocating retained basal area into >50 and <50 cm DBH classes. In the dry pine and mixed-conifer forests within the Klamath, they recommended retaining $5-9 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ in trees <50 cm DBH, while trees >50 cm would be cut only in cases where a large late-successional tree had the potential to carry fire into the crown of a large early seral tree, and only then if the late-successional tree was younger than 150 years. Total retained basal area (all size classes) was ~22 m² ha⁻¹ in the dry mixed-conifer and ponderosa pine zones, and 27–32 m² ha⁻¹ in the moist mixed-conifer. These target basal area ranges were designed as a bet-hedging strategy where summer droughts are frequent, and where tree-killing bark beetles occur in relatively high endemic populations.

2.7. Strategy 7: Integrating restoration with late-successional forest habitat needs

Ideally, the goals of restoring pyro- and successional diversity of MSForests are integrated with other ecological objectives, some of which, by virtue of past management, may be negatively affected by ecosystem restoration activities. For example, forest densification, increased canopy cover and layering, and compositional shifts toward shade-tolerant tree species have benefited a number of species (e.g., northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*), fisher, marten (*Martes caurina*), barred owl (*Strix varia*), CASPO (*Strix occidentalis occidentalis*), and the northern spotted owl (Brown et al., 2004; Gaines et al., 2010a, 2010b; Noss et al., 2006; Singleton, 2015; Spies et al., 2006, 2010; Zielinski, 2014; Keane, 2014). These novel habitats may be degraded by thinning and prescribed fire treatments that seek to create more open forests with LOEST.

2.7.1. Thinning effects on spotted owl prey species

Thinning effects can be variable depending on the species of interest, time since treatment, and landscape context (McIver et al., 2013). Gomez et al. (2005) found that northern flying squirrels (NFS, Glaucomys sabrinus), major prey of NSO and, in upper montane habitats, for the CASPO (Williams et al., 1992), were unaffected five years after thinning. However, in another study, Manning et al. (2012) found NFS were negatively impacted 15 years after thinning. A recent meta-analysis found negative impacts of forest management on NFS, but did not include any light thinning treatments (Holloway and Smith, 2011). These results suggest that there are definite landscape-level tradeoffs associated with creating more fire-resilient stand structures and habitat for species favoring denser forests. These tradeoffs must be weighed against possible habitat loss associated with extensive highseverity fires. Some of these risks can be ameliorated by leaving larger patches of untreated forest that are surrounded by thinned, open-canopy patches that can isolate the risk of crown fire (Ager et al., 2007).

2.7.2. Carefully considering trade-offs

Landscape-scale conservation of the structurally diverse, old forest habitats required by spotted owls and their prey requires careful consideration of the trade-offs between conserving existing habitat characteristics and promoting landscape conditions that are more resilient to the effects of large-scale, high intensity fire (Lehmkuhl et al., 2007). Another important consideration is the notion of accelerating "recruitment" of stands with more old forest characteristics (e.g., large trees), which are currently lacking in many landscapes. Gaines et al. (2010a, 2010b) evaluated the spatial overlap of modeled NSO suitable habitat with mapped priority fuel treatment areas in eastern Washington, to determine the magnitude and location of potential conflicts between fuels management and owl conservation. They found 34% overlap within dry mixed-conifer forests between high suitability NSO habitat and moderate-to-high priority fuels treatment areas, and also a high degree of overlap (35%) of low-suitability NSO habitat and moderate-high priority fuel treatment areas. They suggested that there was opportunity to accomplish fuel treatments and owl conservation by focusing treatments on dry mixed-conifer forest areas near areas of high quality NSO habitat. However, they did not address effects of barred owl (BDO, *Strix varia*) displacement of NSOs into drier mid-slope settings, which could make some drier habitats important for short-term NSO persistence (Singleton, 2013).

Roloff et al. (2005) modeled active and no-management effects on NSO in fire-prone landscapes in southwest Oregon. They found that management in owl foraging areas reduced habitat compared with no active management (only losses to wildfire). They attributed active management's lack of influence on fire behavior in part to the limited landscape area available to treat hazardous fuels, and to the fact that their treatments reduced owl habitat quality (from nesting to foraging), but did not reduce the risk of crown fire. Their model simulated vegetation dynamics (using FVS) and fire (using FlamMap).⁵ In a second paper, Roloff et al. (2012) analyzed a different fuel management strategy for the same area. In that work they found that active management "was more favorable to spotted owl conservation...than no management." Using FlamMap, they assumed that if 50% of the owl territory had high crown fire potential, then all of the territory would be lost to a fire. In two other studies, Sovern et al. (2014, 2015) showed that NSO preferred to nest and roost in MSForests of eastern Washington State that included trees >50 cm and whose overstory canopy cover exceeded 70%. It is apparent that localized fire risk reduction and maintenance of NSO nesting and roosting habitats, as we currently understand and define them, are at cross purposes. However, it is likely that large-scale landscape fire risk reduction, when spatially optimized. can aid in maintaining NSO nesting, roosting, and foraging habitats in greater measure (Ager et al., 2007; Finney et al., 2007).

2.7.3. Competitive interactions between NSOs and BDOs

Another factor complicating NSO conservation in MSForests is competitive interaction with recently established BDO (Singleton, 2013; Sovern et al., 2014). BDOs appear to be displacing NSOs from suitable habitat, particularly in moist valley bottom settings that are preferred by BDOs (Singleton et al., 2010; Singleton, 2013; Yackulic et al., 2014; Wiens et al., 2014). BDOs are also increasing in number and distribution in the Sierra Nevada, and are an increasing risk factor for CASPOs (Keane, 2014). Competitive displacement between the two species is not fully understood, and proposed experimental removal studies will provide additional information (USFWS, 2013).

2.7.4. CASPO responses to landscape scale treatments

In areas of California where woodrats are important prey, NSO and CASPO foraging habitat is characterized as a heterogeneous mosaic of physiognomic types and successional stages interspersed with mature, closed-canopy forest (Zabel et al., 1992, 2003; Franklin et al., 2000; Tempel et al., 2014). Prey diversity and abundance is associated with heterogeneity in foraging areas (Roberts et al., 2011, 2015), while nesting stands are dominated by large, mature trees in a closed-canopy condition (Phillips et al., 2010). Tempel et al. (2015) reported that SPLAT

⁵ Since the authors used FlamMap they likely were unable to account for topographic context – especially the effects of topography on inversion.

treatments have the potential to reduce fire risk to CASPOs under extreme fire weather conditions, but can have long-term negative effects on owls if fires do not occur. Under the wildfire-SPLAT treatment scenario, simulations showed that both owl habitat and demographic rates responded favorably to treatments for up to 30 years after wildfires. However, absent wildfires, treatments had persistent negative effects on habitat quality and demographic rates (Tempel et al., 2015). Similarly, Stephens et al. (2014) found a 43% reduction in the number of CASPO territories 2-3 yrs following implementation of a landscape fuels treatment strategy consisting of DFPZs and 0.2-0.8 ha patch-clearcuts in northern Sierra Nevada MSForests. This study was the first of its kind to monitor owl response to a landscape-scale treatment. While treatments reduced the risk of severe fire behavior, results suggest the overall strategy resulted in a reduced number of owl territories. Thus, consideration of the number and distribution of owl territories needed to sustain a viable population ought to be factored into MSForest restoration.

2.7.5. Other species responses to landscape scale treatments

Some wildlife species will likely benefit from restoration of MSForests, especially when LOESTs are retained or restored. For example, Gaines et al. (2010b) reported that thinning from below and prescribed burning were effective tools for restoring habitat structure for focal bird species (e.g., white-headed woodpecker), and other neotropical and migratory species showed either neutral or positive survival responses. In the same study, Lyons et al. (2008) reported that restorative treatments enhanced foraging habitat conditions for bark-gleaning birds. A key component of these restoration treatments was the retention of large trees and snags within treatment units. Finally, Lehmkuhl et al. (2013) suggested that management to restore resilience to disturbance in closed-canopy MSForests would likely increase forage for ungulates compared to a landscape impacted by fire exclusion and past grazing practices. Clearly, managers will need a way to evaluate how current MSForest landscapes have departed from historical successional pattern conditions to inform management of needed habitat diversity (Franklin et al., 2000; Gaines et al., 2010b; Tempel et al., 2014).

2.7.5.1. Treatment effects on Pacific fisher. Truex and Zielinski (2013) found that mechanical plus fire treatments had negative effects on predicted fisher resting habitat value and that late-, but not early-season prescribed fire also had a negative effect. A number of management activities were identified that could mitigate these effects. Garner (2013) and Zielinski et al. (2013) explored how tolerant fishers were to the combination of fuel treatments, commercial harvests, and prescribed burning in the southern Sierra Nevada. Both found that fishers would tolerate areas and frequencies of disturbance that were typical of current management in the mixed conifer zone. Garner (2013) reported that fisher home ranges tended to include larger proportions of treated than untreated areas, but when selecting microsites within their home ranges, fishers tended to avoid using sites within 200-m of a treated area. Zielinski et al. (2013) found fishers to consistently occupy areas where an average of 2.6% yr^{-1} of a home-range sized area had been treated or disturbed. This represented more treated area than is thought to be necessary to reduce fire spread rates in the southern Sierra Nevada (Syphard et al., 2011), but less than that needed to reduce spread rates in other geographic areas.

Box 7 Integrating owl (NSO and CASPO) conservation and fire regime restoration.

- (1) The NSO nests, roosts, and forages in closed-canopy, multi-layered, medium- to large-diameter latesuccessional and old forest patches of natural or anthropogenic origin (Everett et al., 1997; Forsman et al., 1984; Forsman et al., 2011; Tempel et al., 2014, cf. Lee and Bond, 2015).
- (2) In California mixed-conifer forests and woodlands, both NSO and CASPO nest and roost in structurally similar forest patches, but forage in landscapes with a heterogeneous mix of vegetation types and successional stages interspersed with the mature, closedcanopy forest (Zabel et al., 1992; Franklin et al., 2000; Roberts et al., 2015).
- (3) Historically, the dry and mesic MSForest conditions that supported NSO, CASPO, and several of their prey species were less common and found in valley-bottom and northerly aspect settings, rather than in southerly aspects and ridgetops.
- (4) Today, competitive interactions with recently established BDO populations are impacting NSO populations. BDOs are apparently displacing NSO from valley bottom habitats they prefer (Singleton, 2013; Yackulic et al., 2014).
- (5) Other prey species like the bushy-tailed woodrat occupy early- or mid-seral patches within MSForest landscapes because preferred mast species are more common there.
- (6) The goals of owl conservation and fire regime restoration involve tradeoffs that must be addressed at landscape scales, and likely depend on a careful strategy to increase within-patch and landscape successional pattern heterogeneity.
- (7) Absent BDO displacement effects, such a strategy could entail conserving habitats for NSO and CASPO, and their prey species, in north aspects and valley bottom settings, and focusing thinning, fuel treatments and restoration of fire on drier environments, such as ridgetops and south-facing aspects. Given ongoing competitive pressures from interactions with BDOs, recent observed decline in the NSO populations (Forsman et al., 2011), and absent BDO removal, conservation of NSO habitats around occupied NSO sites may be important for short-term NSO population conservation in some places.
- (8) It will be important to consider the number of owl territories that can likely be sustained under various restored forest conditions. Spatially-explicit owl population models can be used to estimate the number of owl pairs needed for highly probable persistence. Alternative restoration scenarios and their associated numbers of maintained owl pairs could be monitored under an adaptive management framework.

2.8. Strategy 8: Mitigating threats from drought, forest insects, and pathogens

When we re-create fine-scale spatial heterogeneity within patches, a more characteristic and truly dynamic complexity begins to emerge. This complexity is maintained by endemic insect and pathogen populations and fine-scale heterogeneity in fire behavior (Weaver, 1943). Indeed, resilient forests express a modest level of vulnerability to native insects, diseases, and fires. However, more grave concerns about recent severe droughts and bark beetle outbreaks in eastern Oregon, Washington, and California highlight the need for site-specific patch- and landscape-level management practices, including stocking level control.

2.8.1. Thinning can be useful in a variety of situations

A number of insect and disease concerns can be addressed by altering species composition, but cannot be prevented by density management alone (e.g., spruce beetle (Dendroctonus rufipennis Kirby), laminated root rot (Phellinus weirii (Murr) Gilbertson), Douglas-fir tussock moth (Orgyia pseudotsugata McDunnough), and western spruce budworm (Choristoneura freemani Freeman) (Hessburg et al., 1994). With others, thinning forests of host species well before an outbreak can often be a useful means of lowering the likelihood of mortality associated with mountain pine beetle (Dendroctonus ponderosae Hopkins), Douglas-fir beetle (Dendroctonus pseudotsugae Hopkins), and western pine beetle (Dendroctonus brevicomis LeConte) infestations (Fettig et al., 2007; Mitchell et al., 1983). Thinning can also reduce the severity of some dwarf mistletoe (Arceuthobium spp.) infestations, especially in even-aged stands on relatively productive growing sites (e.g., see Barrett and Roth, 1985). Thinning is especially useful where the residual trees are well-adapted to the site, display high vigor, and where the top half of tree live crowns is generally free of mistletoe

Thinning can be useful where widespread MSForest stagnation or growth suppression related tree mortality is likely. Native forest insects and pathogens are often the vehicle for such mortality. In managed forests, thinning combined with under-burning can take the place of frequent surface fires to reduce surface fuelbeds and stocking from below, while favoring larger diameter leave trees and fire-tolerant species compositions. Thinning typically increases the growth and vigor of remaining trees (Collins et al., 2014, McDowell et al., 2003, Ritchie et al., 2008, Hurteau and North, 2010) and also may be used to accelerate development of old-forest characteristics.

2.8.2. Foresters need a broader variety of stand density management tools

To match thinning needs to specific stands and environments, foresters need stocking level curves and other density management tools (e.g., see Cochran et al., 1994; Long and Shaw, 2005; Powell, 1999; Shaw, 2000), and these measures need to be cross-walked to wildlife, fuel, fire behavior, insect and disease hazard measures, and other resource and ecosystem service metrics such that multiple objectives can be planned, monitored, and realized.

Stand measures such as BA and mean DBH may be adequate when used to describe even-aged stands, but are inadequate for multi-aged stands. This is important for managing bark beetle susceptibility of future patches and forests, which will display clumped and gapped tree arrangements. Foresters need measures that accurately describe density and its relationship to the distribution of diameter classes. The stand density index (SDI, Reineke, 1933), as adjusted by Zeide (1983) and Shaw (2000), is capable of meeting this need for irregularly structured, multi-cohort stands. However, additional field research is needed to develop broad understanding of stand density thresholds for a wide variety of site conditions and species throughout interior Oregon, Washington, and California. This research would identify lower and upper limits of full site occupancy for even- and uneven-aged stands under both current and future climate conditions (e.g., see Powell, 1999).

2.8.3. Adapting stand density to future climatic changes

Projected changes in regional climate and related shifts in disturbance behavior present additional challenges to managing future stocking levels. Larson and Churchill (2012) show how tree patterns in pre-settlement era stands can be used to establish finescale reference conditions for restoring patterns of variably-sized tree clumps, gaps, and openings. Churchill et al. (2013) go on to introduce a method for taking these fine-scale tree patterns and adapting them to anticipated future climatic changes. They use regionally downscaled estimates of temperature, precipitation, and soil water-holding capacity to calculate annual actual evapotranspiration (AET) and annual climatic water deficit (Deficit), the difference between potential evapotranspiration (PET) and AET. AET and Deficit have been shown to be good predictors of species presence/absence and growth rates, forest structure, and fire effects (Littell et al., 2008, 2009; Lutz et al., 2010; Kane et al., 2015). Use of these reference conditions provides a way of adapting information from pre-settlement era conditions by factoring in future climate change projections. Methods like these will be especially relevant for adjusting species compositions and density/carrying capacity relations, which native bark beetles will be highly sensitive to. Similar studies are needed for a broad range of plant associations throughout the Inland Western US.

2.9. Strategy 9: Creating and maintaining early successional forests

All seral stages are vital to maintaining landscape patterns that support a wide variety of species and functional diversity. However, in recent decades, early successional conditions were noticeably undervalued (Swanson et al., 2010); perhaps because many suspected that with all of the 20th-century logging, they might never be in short supply. But they are in short supply in some areas, and current configurations of these conditions where they do occur bear little resemblance to historical conditions. For example, we now have large concentrated areas of early successional habitat created by intense fire, as well as large expanses that are completely void of it. What is often lacking is the fine- to mesograin mosaic of early successional conditions dispersed across large landscapes.

Naturally recovering, structurally and compositionally diverse early successional ecosystems are biologically and functionally rich components of landscapes (Fontaine et al., 2009; Hutto, 1995; Kotliar et al., 2002; Smucker et al., 2005; Swanson et al., 2010), and they provide resources for many associated food webs (e.g., see Lehmkuhl, 2004; Lehmkuhl et al., 2006a, 2006b). Especially after severe fires, early successional forests are characterized by structural legacies (snags, logs, and remnant, mature live trees) with accompanying grassland, shrubland, woodland, or herbland dominance (Habeck, 1976; Hutto, 1995; Kotliar et al., 2002). In frequently reburned MSForests, many of the legacies created by fire are short-lived, which emphasizes the need for recurring fire at appropriate ranges of severity to continually recruit these features. In instances where MSForests have experienced recent uncharacteristic stand-replacing patch sizes, recruitment of these features will be considerably prolonged (see below).

As befitting their complexity, MSForests consist of a dynamic mosaic of structural conditions that allow light-demanding native shrubs, forbs, and grasses to survive and persist at individual patch levels for decades to centuries, and for many centuries at landscape scales, depending upon fire frequency and succession processes. Early successional vegetation can exist as relatively large patches, which may be susceptible (for a period of decades to centuries) to high-intensity reburns (Nagel and Taylor, 2005; Skinner and Taylor, 2006; Odion et al., 2010; Thompson and Spies, 2010; Coppoletta et al., in press), or more commonly as small- to mid-sized patches, depending on fire regimes, climate, soils, and topography (Franklin and van Pelt, 2004; Lutz et al., 2011). Sources of early successional patches in current landscapes are wildfires (managed and unmanaged) and variable-density thinned areas that contain large openings that are prescribed-burned relatively frequently (e.g., see Skinner et al., 2006; Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1995).

2.9.1. Broad historical extent of early successional conditions

Early work by Habeck (1976) in the Selway Bitterroot Wilderness of central Idaho called attention to the rapid loss of successional diversity and early successional pre-forest habitats after 50 years of fire suppression (see Fig. 4 in Habeck, 1976). Summaries from the Interior Columbia Basin meso-scale assessment (Hessburg et al., 1999a, 2000a) are another source of detailed data on the historically broad extent and variability of area in early successional herb (grass), shrub, sparse woodland, bare ground, and stand initiation (newly regenerated forest, O'Hara et al., 1996) patches. In that assessment, they identified area capable of supporting forest cover in early 20th-century historical photography by observing the same area in the late-20thcentury aerial photography that supported at least 10% canopy cover of trees. After \ge 70 years of fire exclusion, trees had reinvaded many areas formerly occupied by fire-maintained grassland, shrubland, or woodland (Hessburg et al., 1999a, 2000a, 2000b). We provide an example of the areal extent and patch size distributions of early seral conditions using data from the 1.5 million ha North Cascades province (Table 1 and Fig. 10A and B).

When considering all forested PVTs,⁶ ~81% of the province was capable of forest growth, and ~42% of the forest-capable area was in pre-forest or early seral conditions (Table 1). The presence of such a large area of early seral and flashy fuel conditions would have conveyed fire with relative ease throughout the landscape; however, owing to high fire frequency, the conveyed fires likely spread rapidly, and exhibited relatively short flame lengths and low fireline intensity. Patch size distributions of the early successional conditions depicted in Fig. 10B reflect an approximately natural log distribution, with few patches larger than 1000 ha and most patches ranging between several ha and 200–500 ha. Early successional conditions included a broad distribution of patch sizes, but note that the very large patches that are typical after contemporary wildfires are absent from these distributions.

2.9.2. Concerns with overabundant early successional forest conditions The abundance, connectivity, and grain of early successional forest patches on the landscape have functional implications that go well beyond habitat alone. Depending on species composition and environment, early successional forest patches may initially resist reburning at high-severity, but after a decade or more of tree growth can become highly susceptible to fire, depending on site productivity and level of tree establishment (Andrews and Cowlin, 1940; Moritz et al., 2011; Thompson and Spies, 2010). In fact, modeling by Kitzberger et al. (2012) showed that when older forests were intermingled with these younger, more flammable forests, landscapes can become unstable. Thus, complex tradeoffs may exist between the amount and the spatial configuration of young forests and the degree of landscape-level fire resistance. Box 8 On the question of postfire salvage.

Because we can influence but not control the rate at which wildfires and other disturbances create early successional patches, the issue of creating and maintaining a diversity of early successional patches will always have an adaptive component that reflects the occurrence of uncontrolled disturbances over both space and time. Where management objectives after MSFires are to prefer restoration via natural recovery processes, the obvious approach is to forego salvage and planting operations. To be effective though, such areas should retain the potential for the full suite of natural recovery processes, including natural reseeding by coniferous and other understory species that are naturally adapted to the site and fire regime.

Where this is not true (as in cases of high-severity reburn potential, very large and homogeneous high-severity burn patch sizes, and where desirable seed sources are well beyond probable dispersal distances), salvage and/or planting operations may be reasonable options, and could be planned and conducted so as to reduce disruption of early successional diversity (Lindenmayer et al., 2004; Noss et al., 2006; Long et al., 2014a). Where they are appropriate, salvage operations should focus on the primary fuels that are the reburn concern, i.e., the smaller understory shade-tolerant trees that comprised the ingrowth over the period of fire exclusion (Peterson et al., 2015). Salvaging large trees provides a large economic benefit but has no known ecological benefit, and significant ecological costs (Donato et al., 2013; Lindenmayer et al., 2004; Noss et al., 2006; Long et al., 2014a).

One recent study that focused on retaining the basal area of the largest trees was implemented in the severely burned 2003 Cone Fire area (Ritchie et al., 2007). In that study, the proportion of basal area retained was evaluated at 5 levels: 100%, 75%, 50%, 25%, and 0%, with three treatment replications at each level in a fully randomized assignment (Ritchie and Knapp, 2014). Regardless of retention level, ~80% of the retained standing bole biomass had transitioned to surface fuel by the eighth year of the study (Ritchie et al., 2013). After 10-yr, only 25% of the largest pines were standing, but 86% of the largest white fir and virtually all of the incense cedar remained standing (Ritchie and Knapp, 2014). Natural regeneration was scant and found mostly in units nearer the edge of the burn, and otherwise did not differ by intensity of treatment. Survival and growth of planted trees did not differ by intensity of salvage (Ritchie and Knapp, 2014, cf. Donato et al., 2006). These results suggest that large pines may provide a fairly short-lived snag resource. More research is sorely needed on snag longevity by tree species, size, and geographic area, and on snag abundance and arrangement requirements of wildlife species at patch to landscape scales.

3. Towards a comprehensive landscape strategy

We have proposed that a landscape management strategy for MSForests needs to simultaneously address a number of subcomponents. Developing such a strategy requires addressing both legacy management issues and ecosystem pattern and process

⁶ Environments that are similar in their climate, landforms, and geomorphic processes display a similar distribution of vegetation in the absence of disturbance (Arno et al., 1985; Steele and Geier-Hayes, 1989).We term this unique vegetation class the potential vegetation type or PVT.

Table 1

Percentage of potential vegetation type (PVT) area in early successional (seral) herbland, shrubland, woodland, bare ground and forest stand initiation patches in early 20thcentury dry ponderosa pine, and dry and moist mixed conifer mixed severity forest environments of the Northern Cascades province of the Interior Columbia River Basin (adapted from Hessburg et al., 1999a, 1999b, 1999c, 1999d, 2000a). [Note that the historical photography predates all but trace amounts of regeneration harvesting]. Woodland in this usage is defined as $\leq 30\%$ tree canopy cover (sparse coniferous or hardwood) growing on a forest PVT^a; i.e., capable of producing forest cover ($\geq 10\%$ tree canopy cover) in the late 20th century aerial photography. PVT labels are PIPO = ponderosa pine; WD PSME/ABGR = warm-dry Douglas-fir/grand fir; CM PSME/ABGR = cool-moist Douglas-fir/grand fir; WD ABLA2/PIEN = warm-dry subalpine fir/Engelmann spruce; and CM ABLA2/PIEN = cool-moist subalpine fir/Engelmann spruce (see Hessburg et al., 1999a, 2000a) for expanded definitions and typing methods.

Province	Potential vegetation type (PVT)									
	Early seral forest conditions					All other forest cond.	All other range cond.	Nonforest/non-range (i.e., human developments/croplands)	% of Province	
Northern Cascades	PIPO	WD PSME/ ABGR	CM PSME/ ABGR	WD ABLA2/ PIEN	CM ABLA2/ PIEN	All other forest PVTs	All other range PVTs			
Herbland	6.01	1.56	1.73	0.52	1.18	0.63	45.61	3.41	7.58	
Shrubland	0.67	0.89	0.42	6.13	1.27	1.22	29.56	0.09	5.03	
Woodland	64.48	21.34	9.71	30.19	15.70	16.21	0.14	0.59	19.79	
Bare ground	3.02	1.39	1.16	1.54	4.20	3.77	24.63	95.47	16.90	
Stand initiation	9.23	8.14	8.82	6.38	14.63	7.00	0.00	0.05	6.78	
Other forest structures	16.59	66.69	78.16	55.25	63.02	71.16	0.06	0.39	43.92	
% PVT area	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	-	
% of Province	1.83	10.16	24.12	2.97	14.92	26.73	13.39	5.87	100	

^a Environments that are similar in their climate, landforms, and geomorphic processes display a similar distribution of vegetation in the absence of disturbance (Arno et al., 1985; Steele and Geier-Hayes, 1989). We term this unique vegetation class the potential vegetation type or PVT.

needs going forward. In that light, strategies generally should specify:

- (1) Where the landscape(s) in question fit on the MSFire gradient, as a general historical feature, from low- to highseverity dominated fire behavior. This will help guide the response to each of the following points.
- (2) Areas of the landscape that would be untreated or lightly treated to protect key habitats or strongholds for listed species that favor dense forests, and other specific resource concerns.
- (3) Areas where connectivity of habitat area is considered, but weighed against the potential to vector intense fire. Riparian areas may contribute to this connectivity, but upland connections need also be considered.
- (4) The most effective locations for treatments in the remainder of the landscape, given knowledge of disturbance processes and their drivers. These treatments serve to both protect key features from uncharacteristically intense fire, and allow for greater fire use to achieve restoration goals (see 9 below).
- (5) The intensity, frequency, and spatial distribution of treatments needed to create desired spatial pattern and disturbance regime conditions (e.g., see Hessburg et al., 2013, 2015).
- (6) Explicit landscape prescriptions for achieving the spatial pattern rearrangement, recognizing that restoring patterns and the extent of LOEST will take several centuries.⁷
- (7) Testing out the landscape prescriptions/scenarios using landscape models that project future conditions and allow users to see how well management actions over time and space achieve multiple goals (Spies et al., 2014).
- (8) A portfolio of silvicultural prescriptions and a diverse toolkit for achieving the multivariate objectives.
- (9) Wildfire management strategies that include the broad use of managed wildfire and prescribed burning to accomplish restoration objectives (Habeck, 1976).

4. Overarching concepts

The recommendations we offer in foregoing sections are grounded in eight overarching concepts:

- (1) Avoid one-size-fits all approaches. The mixed-severity fire bin is quite large, ecologically diverse, and not very useful as a category to guide management and policy. Management for a given set of ecological objectives should reflect the uniqueness of place, including what is known about historical patterns, what is predicted for future climates, and the stressors that exist or can be expected in the future.
- (2) Refine the mixed-severity fire bin. We said in the Introduction that the mixed-severity class is a catch-all bin for fires that are neither low nor high severity. Because many fires are of a mixed-severity and much variety in successional conditions results from them, it may make sense to define subclasses within the mixed-severity class (e.g., 20–33%, 34–50%, 51–66%, >66% of the dominant tree basal area or canopy cover killed) to improve its utility for assigning successional outcomes associated with MSFires.
- (3) Don't be a prisoner of history. Where the goal is to produce more resistant and resilient forests regionally and locally, while protecting or restoring critical habitats, historical landscape patterns may have to be adapted. Historical patterns provide valuable insight, and in some cases offer the best route to achieving desirable ecological goals. In other cases, however, the highly altered regional landscape of today may require unprecedented mitigations to conserve native species, adapt to climatic and non-native species changes, or restore fire regimes (Millar et al., 2007; Stephens et al., 2010; Scheller et al., 2011).
- (4) Buy time for climate adaptation and sensitive species. Much of the MSForest landscape is highly altered and susceptible to intense fires, seasonal and longer droughts, and large-scale, protracted insect outbreaks. Where possible, strategically place burn treatments to break up the homogeneity of the broad regional landscape (Finney, 2001; Agee and Skinner, 2005; Moghaddas et al., 2010), to buy time for creating desirable conditions on the larger landscape, and enable managers to cover more area with initial burn treatments (Weatherspoon and Skinner, 1996; Agee et al., 2000). Where

⁷ The reality of ongoing disturbance events will require adaptively managing these landscape prescriptions for the foreseeable future.



Fig. 10. (A) Patch size distributions of early 20th-century early successional conditions depicted in Table 1. Distributions from top left are: All types = pooled herbland, shrubland, woodland, bare ground (nonforest), and forest stand initiation structure patches of all forest PVT settings; PIPO, PSME/ABGR, CM PSME/ABGR, WD ABLA2/PIEN, CM PSME/ABGR = pooled herbland, shrubland, woodland, bare ground, and forest stand initiation structure patches of ponderosa pine, warm-dry Douglas-fir/grand fir (dry mixed conifer) cool-moist Douglas-fir/grand fir (moist mixed conifer), warm-dry subalpine fir/Engelmann spruce, and cool-moist subalpine fir/Engelmann spruce PVT settings, respectively; Stand initiation, Woodland, Non-forest, Shrubland, Herbland = pooled stand initiation, woodland, bare-ground, shrubland, and herbland patches of all forest PVT settings are provided in Hessburg et al. (2000b). (B) Proportion of the total patch area in each early successional condition represented by patches of each size class.

appropriate (Naficy et al., 2016), strategically placed fire treatments could reduce fire severity in large, remote, or administratively withdrawn wild areas, as well (Schmidt et al., 2008). Wherever strategically placed treatments are implemented, they should be planned to accommodate the connectivity of dense, old forest habitats for the subset of key species associated with this habitat. Connecting valley bottom and north aspect topographies will be helpful in this light.

- (5) Maintain functional habitat networks for early-, mid-, latesuccessional and old forest specialists. Where habitat needs are insufficient, actively develop replacement habitat or facilitate their development via natural processes.
- (6) Use the best practices available to protect sensitive soils, streams, native fishes, and riparian corridors, listed terrestrial and other aquatic species and their habitats, and remaining LOESTs and old forests. With exception for hyporheic and floodplain environments, riparian zones in MSForests also experienced fire at similar frequencies to their adjacent upslope areas (Camp et al., 1997; Van de Water and North, 2010). Management can be designed to enable typical frequency and severity of this fundamental process (Beche et al., 2005).
- (7) Consider using managed wildfire wherever practicable. Increasingly, natural ignitions can be used to increase spatial heterogeneity in forests with MSFire regimes (Rollins et al., 2001; Collins et al., 2009; Collins and Stephens, 2010). This is true in managed and wilderness forests, especially during periods of relatively benign fire weather. Because most remote areas are in congressionally withdrawn wilderness, National Park, or RARE 2 designation, it makes sense to allow naturally ignited fires to burn in these areas under carefully monitored conditions.⁸
- (8) Make significant progress with adaptive management. Because climate change and wildfire uncertainties are large, research knowledge is always limiting, and surprises will occur. Designing new large and small scale experimental treatments has the potential to provide rich insights into future sources of landscape resistance and resilience. Historical references have been invaluable to providing insights about prior landscape processes and their interactions with forest conditions. But time marches forward, and ecosystem history is non-repeating. Much like the work of Churchill et al. (2013), our knowledge of historical conditions can be mindfully reshaped by our knowledge of how the future climate and land-use will create the MSForests of the future. We can either watch it happen, or we can accelerate learning (Bormann et al., 2007).

None of the concepts above preclude a commercial timber yield; however, they do assume ecological restoration as the central focus, with wood fiber yield as a by-product to support local communities, maintain restoration infrastructure capacity, and to subsidize some costs of restoration. Progress toward integrating ecological and human needs should be possible where collaboration builds trusted relationships and transparently shared goals, where efforts emphasize both social and ecological values, and where restoration emphasizes large landscapes that are resilient to disturbances and climate change (Costanza, 1991; Bengston, 1994; Hanna and Munasinghe, 1995; Long et al., 2014b).

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the helpful reviews of Bill Gaines, James Dickinson, Keala Hagmann, Rick Brown, Richy Harrod, Garrett Meigs, Dave Werntz, Ryan Haugo, and two anonymous reviewers. We also acknowledge financial support of the Pacific Northwest and Pacific Southwest Research Stations, the National Fire Plan, the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, and the Joint Fire Sciences Program.

References

- Abatzoglou, J.T., Kolden, C.A., 2013. Relationships between climate and macro-scale area burned in the western United States. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22, 1003–1020.
- Agee, J.K., 1993. Fire Ecology of Pacific Northwest Forests. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Agee, J.K., Bahro, B., Finney, M.A., Omi, P.N., Sapsis, D.B., Skinner, C.N., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Weatherspoon, C.P., 2000. The use of shaded fuelbreaks in landscape fire management. For. Ecol. Manage, 127, 55–66.
- Agee, J.K., 2003. Historical range of variability in eastern Cascades forests, Washington, USA. Landscape Ecol. 18, 725–740.
- Agee, J.K., Skinner, C.N., 2005. Basic principles of forest fuel reduction treatments. For. Ecol. Manage. 211, 83–96.
- Ager, A.A., Finney, M.A., Kerns, B.K., Maffei, H., 2007. Modeling wildfire risk to northern spotted owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*) habitat in Central Oregon, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 246, 45–56.
- Ager, A.A., Vaillant, N.M., Finney, M.A., 2010. A comparison of landscape fuel treatment strategies to mitigate wildland fire risk in the urban interface and preserve old forest structure. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 1556–1570.
- Ager, A.A., Vaillant, N.M., Finney, M.A., Preisler, H.K., 2012. Analyzing wildfire exposure and source-sink relationships on a fire prone forest landscape. For. Ecol. Manage. 267, 271–283.
- Allen, C.D., Savage, M., Falk, D.A., Suckling, K.F., Swetnam, T.W., Schulke, T., Stacey, P. B., Morgan, P., Hoffman, M., Klingel, J.T., 2002. Ecological restoration of southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems: a broad perspective. Ecol. Appl. 12, 1418–1433.
- Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D.D., Hogg, E.H., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R., Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J.-H., Allard, G., Running, S.W., Semerci, A., Cobb, N., 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks of forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 660–684.
- Allen, C.D., Breshears, D.D., McDowell, N.G., 2015. On underestimation of global vulnerability to tree mortality and forest die-off from hotter drought in the Anthropocene. Ecosphere 6 (8) art129.
- Anderson, K., 2005. Tending the Wild: Native American Knowledge and the Management of California's Natural Resources. University of California Press.
- Andrews, H.J., Cowlin, R.W., 1940. Forest Resources of the Douglas-fir Region. Misc. Publ. 389. USDA, Forest Service, Washington, DC.
- Arno, S.F., Simmerman, D.G., Keane, R.E., 1985. Forest Succession on Four Habitat Types in Western Montana. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-GTR-177. USDA-FS, Intermountain Research Station, Ogden, Utah, USA.
- Arno, S.F., Scott, J.H., Hartwell, M.G., 1995. Age Class Structure of Old Growth Ponderosa Pine/Douglas-fir Stands and Its Relationship to Fire History. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-RP-481.
- Bahro, B., Barber, K.H., Sherlock, J.W., Yasuda, D.A., 2007. Stewardship and Fireshed Assessment: A Process for Designing a Landscape Fuel Treatment Strategy. General Technical Report PSW-GTR-203. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 41–54.
- Bailey, R.G., 1995. Description of the Ecoregions of the United States. Misc. Publ. 1391. USDA For. Serv., Washington, DC, p. 108.
- Bailey, R.G., 2009. Ecosystem Geography: From Ecoregions to Sites, second ed. Springer, New York, pp. 251.
- Baker, W.L., 1994. Restoration of landscape structure altered by fire suppression. Conserv. Biol. 8 (3), 763–769.
- Baker, W.L., 2012. Implications of spatially extensive historical data from surveys for restoring dry forests of Oregon's eastern Cascades. Ecosphere 3 (3) art23.
- Baker, W.L., 2015. Historical Northern spotted owl habitat and old-growth dry forests maintained by mixed-severity wildfires. Landscape Ecol. 30, 655–666.
- Barrett, J.W., Roth, L.F., 1985. Response of Dwarf Mistletoe to Thinning: 1. Sapling Growth. Res. Pap. PNW-330. USDA, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 15 p.
- Barth, M.A.F., Larson, A.J., Lutz, J.A., 2015. A forest reconstruction model to assess changes to Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forest during the fire suppression era. For. Ecol. Manage. 354, 104–118.
- Bartos, D.L., Campbell, R.B., 1998. Decline of quaking aspen in the interior west, examples from Utah. Rangelands 20, 17–24.

⁸ Smoke management will always be a concern, however, one of the more active areas of managed wildfire use in the western US is the Illilouette Creek Basin, 7 km south of Yosemite Valley (which receives millions of visitors each year). Portions of fires in this area are suppressed because of smoke management concerns but the entire basin of over 15,000 ha has burned at least once since 1974 with many areas burning multiple times. Similar management actions could occur in large remote areas throughout the western US.

- Beaty, R.M., Taylor, A.H., 2007. Fire disturbance and forest structure in old-growth mixed-conifer forests in the northern Sierra Nevada, California. J. Vegt. Sci. 18, 879–890.
- Beaty, R.M., Taylor, A.H., 2001. Spatial and temporal variation of fire regimes in a mixed conifer forest landscape, southern Cascades, California, USA. J. Biogeogr. 28, 955–966.
- Beaty, R.M., Taylor, A.H., 2008. Fire history and the structure and dynamics of a mixed conifer forest landscape in the northern Sierra Nevada Lake Tahoe Basin, California, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 707–719.
- Beche, L.A., Stephens, S.L., Resh, V.H., 2005. Prescribed fire effects on a riparian and stream community in the Sierra Nevada: Dark Canyon Creek, California, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 218, 37–59.
- Beisner, B.D., Haydon, D.T., Cuddington, K., 2003. Alternative stable states in ecology. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 376–382.
- Bekker, M.F., Taylor, A.H., 2001. Gradient analysis of fire regimes in montane forests of the southern Cascade Range, Thousand Lakes Wilderness, California, USA. Plant Ecol. 155, 15–28.
- Bekker, M.F., Taylor, A.H., 2010. Fire disturbance, forest structure, and stand dynamics in montane forests of the southern Cascades, Thousand Lakes Wilderness, California, USA. Ecoscience 17, 59–72.
- Bekker, M.F., Taylor, A.H., 2008. Fire disturbance, forest structure, and stand dynamics in montane forests of the southern Cascades, Thousand Lakes Wilderness, California, USA. Ecoscience 17, 59–72.
- Belote, R.T., Larson, A.J., Dietz, M.S., 2015. Tree survival scales to community-level effects following mixed-severity fire in a mixed-conifer forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 353, 221–231.
- Bengston, D., 1994. Changing forest values and ecosystem management. Soc. Nat. Res. 7, 515–533.
- Bentz, B.J., Régnière, J., Fettig, C.J., Hansen, E.M., Hayes, J.L., Hicke, J.A., Kelsy, R.G., Negrón, J.F., Seybold, S.J., 2010. Climate change and bark beetles of the western United States and Canada: direct and indirect effects. Bioscience 60, 602–613.
- Bigelow, S.W., North, M.P., Salk, C.F., 2011. Using light to predict fuels-reduction and group-selection effects on succession in Sierran mixed-conifer forest. Can. J. For. Res. 41, 2051–2063.
- Bigler, C., Gavin, D., Gunning, C., Veblen, T.T., 2007. Drought induces lagged tree mortality in a subalpine forest in the Rocky Mountains. Oikos 116, 1983–1994.
- Binkley, D., Šisk, T., Chambers, C., Springer, J., Block, W., 2007. The role of old-growth forests in frequent-fire landscapes. Ecol. Soc. 12 (2), 18.
- Bormann, B.T., Haynes, R.W., Martin, J.R., 2007. Adaptive management of forest ecosystems: did some rubber hit the road? BioScience 57 (2), 186–191.
- Breshears, D., Cobb, N., Rich, P., Price, K., Allen, C., Balice, R., Romme, W., Kastens, J., Floyd, M., Belnap, J., Anderson, J., Myers, O., Meyer, C., 2005. Regional vegetation die-off in response to global-change-type drought. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102 (42), 15144–15148.
- Brown, R.T., Agee, J.K., Franklin, J.F., 2004. Forest restoration and fire: principles in the context of place. Conserv. Biol. 18 (4), 903–912.
- Brown, P.M., Wu, R., 2005. Climate and disturbance forcing of episodic tree recruitment in a southwestern ponderosa pine landscape. Ecology 86, 3030– 3038.
- Beukema, S.J., Kurz, W.A., Pinkham, C.B., Milosheva, K., Frid, L., 2003. Vegetation Dynamics Development Tool, User's Guide, Version 4.4c. ESSA Technologies Ltd., Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 239 pp.
- Bull, E.L., Holthausen, R.S., Henjum, M.G., 1992. Roost trees used by pileated woodpeckers in northeastern Oregon, J. Wildl. Manage, 56 (4), 786–793.
- Calkin, D.E., Cohen, J.D., Finney, M.A., Thompson, M.P., 2014. How risk management can prevent future wildfire disasters in the wildland-urban interface. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111 (2), 746–751.
- Calkin, D.E., Thompson, M.P., Finney, M.A., 2015. Negative consequences of positive feedbacks in US wildfire management. For. Ecosyst. 2 (1), 1–10.
- Camp, A., Oliver, C., Hessburg, P., Everett, R., 1997. Predicting late-successional fire refugia pre-dating European settlement in the Wenatchee Mountains. For. Ecol. Manage. 95, 63–77.
- Campbell, R.B., Bartos, D.L., 2001. Aspen ecosystems: objectives for sustaining biodiversity. In: Shepperd, W.D., Binkley, D., Bartos, D.L., Stohlgren, T.J., Eskew, L.G. (Eds.), Sustaining Aspen in Western Landscapes: Symposium Proceedings, 13–15 June 2000, Grand Junction, CO. Proceedings RMRS-P-18. USDA, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, pp. 299–310.
- Cansler, C.A., McKenzie, D., 2014. Climate, fire size, and biophysical setting control fire severity and spatial pattern in the northern Cascade Range, USA. Ecol. Appl. 24 (5), 1037–1056.
- Cary, G.J., Keane, R.E., Gardner, R.H., Lavorel, S., Flannigan, M.D., Davies, I.D., Li, C., Lenihan, J.M., Rupp, T.S., Mouillot, F., 2006. Comparison of the sensitivity of landscape-fire-succession models to variation in terrain, fuel pattern, climate and weather. Landscape Ecol. 21, 121–137.
- Chmura, D.J., Anderson, P.D., Howe, G.T., Harrington, C.A., Halofsky, J.E., Peterson, D. L., Shaw, D.C., St Clair, J.B., 2011. Forest responses to climate change in the northwestern United States: ecophysiological foundations for adaptive management. For. Ecol. Manage. 261 (7), 1121–1142.
- Churchill, D.J., Larson, A.J., Dahlgreen, M.C., Franklin, J.F., Hessburg, P.F., Lutz, J.A., 2013. Restoring forest resilience: from reference spatial patterns to silvicultural prescriptions and monitoring. For. Ecol. Manage. 291, 442–457.
- Churchill, D.J., Larson, A.J., Jeronimo, S.M.A., Dahlgreen, M.C., Franklin, J.F., 2014. The ICO Approach to Quantifying and Restoring Forest Spatial Pattern: Implementation Guide. Version 2.2. Stewardship Forestry LLC, Vashon, WA, USA, 38 p.

- Churchill, D.J., Carnwath, G.C., Larson, A.J., Jeronimo, S.A., 2016. Historical Forest Structure, Composition, and Spatial Pattern in Dry Conifer Forests of the Western Blue Mountains, Oregon. USDA-FS, PNW Res. Sta. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-XXX, in press.
- Clyatt, K.A., Crotteau, J.S., Schaedel, M.S., Wiggins, H.L., Kelley, H., Churchill, D.J., Larson, A.J., 2016. Historical spatial patterns and contemporary tree mortality in dry mixed-conifer forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 361, 23–37.
- Cochran, P.H., Geist, J.M., Clemens, D.L., Clausnitzer, R.R., Powell, D.C., 1994. Suggested Stocking Levels for Forest Stands in Northeastern Oregon and Southeastern Washington. USDA Forest Service Research Note. PNW-RN-513. Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR.
- Codding, B.F., Bohna, Bliege-Bird, R., Aldern, J.D., Bird, D.W., Goode, R.W., 2015. Coevolutionary dynamics between indigenous fire regimes and acorn (*Quercus kelloggii*) use in the Sierra Nevada Range of California. Ethnobiology, in press.
- Collins, B.M., Miller, J.D., Thode, A.E., Kelly, M., Van Wagtendonk, J.W., Stephens, S.L., 2009. Interactions among wildland fires in a long-established Sierra Nevada natural fire area. Ecosystems 12 (1), 114–128.
- Collins, B.M., Stephens, S.L., Moghaddas, J.J., Battles, J., 2010. Challenges and approaches in planning fuel treatments across fire-excluded forested landscapes. J. For. 108, 24–31.
- Collins, B.M., Stephens, S.L., 2010. Stand-replacing patches within a mixed-severity fire regime: quantitative characterization using recent fires in a longestablished natural fire area. Landscape Ecol. 25, 927–939.
- Collins, B.M., Everett, R.G., Stephens, S.L., 2011a. Impacts of fire exclusion and recent managed fire on forest structure in old growth Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forests. Ecosphere 2 (4) art51.
- Collins, B.M., Stephens, S.L., Roller, G.B., Battles, J.J., 2011b. Simulating fire and forest dynamics for a landscape fuel treatment project in the Sierra Nevada. For. Sci. 57, 77–88.
- Collins, B.M., Roller, G.B., 2013. Early forest dynamics in stand-replacing fire patches in the northern Sierra Nevada, California, USA. Landscape Ecol. 28, 1801–1813.
- Collins, B.M., Das, A.J., Battles, J.J., Fry, D.L., Krasnow, K.D., Stephens, S.L., 2014. Beyond reducing fire hazard: fuel treatment impacts on overstory tree survival. Ecol. Appl. 24 (8), 1879–1886.
- Collins, B., Skinner, C., 2014. Fire and fuels. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 143–172.
- Collins, B.M., Lydersen, J.M., Everett, R.G., Fry, D.F., Stephens, S.L., 2015. Novel characterization of landscape-level variability in historical vegetation structure. Ecol. Appl. 25, 1167–1174.
- Coppoletta, M., Merriam, K.E., Collins, B.M., 2015. Post-fire vegetation and fuel development influences fire severity patterns in reburns. Ecol. Appl., in press. Costanza, R. (Ed.), 1991. Ecological Economics: The Science and Management of
- Sustainability. Columbia University Press, New York. Dai, A., 2011. Drought under global warming: a review. Wiley Interdiscipl. Rev.:
- Clim. Change 2 (1), 45–65.
- Dale, V.H., Joyce, L.A., McNulty, S., Neilson, R.P., Ayres, M.P., Flannigan, M.D., Hanson, P.J., Irland, L.C., Lugo, A.E., Peterson, C.J., Simberloff, D., Swanson, F.J., Stocks, B.J., Wotton, B.M., 2001. Climate Change and Forest Disturbances: climate change can affect forests by altering the frequency, intensity, duration, and timing of fire, drought, introduced species, insect and pathogen outbreaks, hurricanes, windstorms, ice storms, or landslides. BioScience 51 (9), 723–734.
- DellaSala, D.A., Hanson, C.T., 2015. The Ecological Importance of Mixed-severity Fires: Nature's Phoenix. Elsevier.
- Donato, D.C., Fontaine, J.B., Campbell, J.L., Robinson, W.D., Kauffman, J.B., Law, B.E., 2006. Post-wildfire logging hinders regeneration and increases fire risk. Science 311 (5759), 352.
- Donato, D.C., Fontaine, J.B., Kauffman, J.B., Robinson, W.D., Law, B.E., 2013. Fuel mass and forest structure following stand-replacement fire and post-fire logging in a mixed-evergreen forest. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22 (5), 652–666.
- Engel, K.H., 2013. Perverse incentives: the case of wildfire smoke regulation. Ecol. Law Quart. 40, 623.
- Everett, R.L., Hessburg, P.F., Jensen, M.E., Bormann, B., 1994a. Executive Summary, vol. I. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-317. USDA, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 61 p.
- Everett, R.L., Hessburg, P.F., Lehmkuhl, J.F., Jensen, M.E., Bourgeron, P.S., 1994b. Old forests in dynamic landscapes. J. For. 92, 22–25.
- Everett, R., Schellhaas, D., Spurbeck, D., Ohlson, P., Keenum, D., Anderson, T., 1997. Structure of northern spotted owl nest stands and their historical conditions on the eastern slope of the Pacific Northwest Cascades, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 94, 1–14.
- Fahey, R.T., Puettmann, K.J., 2008. Patterns in spatial extent of gap influence on understory plant communities. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 2801–2810.
- Fettig, C.J., Klepzig, K.D., Billings, R.F., Munson, A.S., Nebeker, T.E., Negrón, J.F., Nowak, J.T., 2007. The effectiveness of vegetation management practices for prevention and control of bark beetle infestations in coniferous forests of the western and southern United States. For. Ecol. Manage. 238, 24–53.
- Finney, M.A., 2001. Design of regular landscape fuel treatment patterns for modifying fire growth and behavior. For. Sci. 47, 219–228.
- Finney, M.A., 2004. Landscape fire simulation and fuel treatment optimization. In: Hayes, J.L., Ager, A.A., Barbour, J.R. (Eds.), Methods for Integrated Modeling of Landscape Change. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-610. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, USA, pp. 117–131 (Chapter 9).

Finney, M.A., 2007. A computational method for optimizing fuel treatment locations. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 16, 702–711.

- Finney, M.A., Seli, R.C., McHugh, C.W., Ager, A.A., Bahro, B., Agee, J.K., 2007. Simulation of long-term landscape-level fuel treatment effects on large wildfires. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 16, 712–727.
- Flack, D.J.A., 1976. Bird populations of aspen forests in western North America. Ornithol. Monogr. 19, 1–97.
- Fontaine, J.B., Donato, D.C., Robinson, W.D., Law, B.E., Kauffman, J.B., 2009. Bird communities following high-severity fire: response to single and repeat fires in a mixed-evergreen forest, Oregon, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 257, 1496–1504.
- Forsman, E.D., Anthony, R., Dugger, K., Glenn, E., Franklin, A., White, G., Schwarz, C., Burnham, K., Anderson, D., Nichols, J., Hines, J., Lint, J., Davis, R., Ackers, S., Andrews, L., Biswell, B., Carlson, P., Diller, L., Gremel, S., Herter, D., Higley, J., Horn, R., Reid, J., Rockweit, J., Schaberl, J., Snetsinger, T., Sovern, S., 2011. Population Demography of Northern Spotted Owls. Studies in Avian Biology No. 40. University of California Press, Los Angeles.
- Forsman, E.D., Meslow, E.C., Wight, H.M., 1984. Distribution and biology of the spotted owl in Oregon. Wildlife Monogr., 3–64
- Franklin, A.B., Anderson, D.R., Gutierrez, R.J., Burnham, K.P., 2000. Climate, habitat quality, and fitness in northern spotted owl populations in northwestern California. Ecol. Monit. 70, 539–590.
- Franklin, J.F., Agee, J.K., 2003. Forging a science-based national forest fire policy. Iss. Sci. Technol. 20, 59–66.
- Franklin, J.F., Van Pelt, R., 2004. Spatial aspects of structural complexity in oldgrowth forests. J. For. 102, 22–27.
- Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., Van Pelt, R., Carey, A.B., Thornburgh, D.A., Berg, D.R., Lindenmayer, D.B., Harmon, M.E., Keeton, W.S., Shaw, D.C., Bible, K., Chen, J., 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests, as an example. For. Ecol. Manage. 155, 399–423.
- Franklin, J.F., Mitchell, R.J., Palik, B.J., 2007. Natural Disturbance and Stand Development Principles for Ecological Forestry. USDA-FS, Northern Res. Sta., Gen. Tech. Rep. NRS-GTR-19, pp. 1–44.
- Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., 2012. A restoration framework for federal forests in the Pacific Northwest. J. For. 110, 429–439.
- Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., Churchill, D.J., Hagmann, K., Johnson, D., Johnston, J., 2013. Restoration of Dry Forests in Eastern Oregon: A Field Guide. The Nature Conservancy, Portland, OR, 202 p.
- Frenkel, R.E., 1993. Vegetation. In: Kimmerling, A.J., Jackson, P.L. (Eds.), Atlas of the Pacific Northwest. Oregon State University Press, Corvallis, pp. 58–65.
- Fry, D.L., Stephens, S.L., Collins, B.M., North, M.P., Franco-Vizcaino, E., Gill, S.J., 2014. Contrasting spatial patterns in active-fire and fire-suppressed Mediterranean climate old-growth mixed conifer forests. PLoS ONE 9 (2), e88985.
- Fulé, P.Z., Laughlin, D.C., 2007. Wildland fire effects on forest structure over an altitudinal gradient, Grand Canyon National Park, USA. J. Appl. Ecol. 44, 136– 146.
- Fulé, P.Z., Crouse, J.E., Roccaforte, J.P., Kalies, E.L., 2012. Do thinning and/or burning treatments in western USA ponderosa or Jeffrey pine-dominated forests help restore natural fire behavior? For. Ecol. Manage. 269, 68–81.
- Fulé, P.Z., Swetnam, T.W., Brown, P.M., Falk, D.A., Peterson, D.L., Allen, C.D., Aplet, G. H., Battaglia, M.A., Binkley, D., Farris, C., Keane, R.E., Margolis, E.Q., Grissino-Mayer, H., Miller, C., Sieg, C.H., Skinner, C., Stephens, S.L., Taylor, A., 2014. Unsupported inferences of high-severity fire in historical dry forests of the western United States: response to Williams and Baker. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23, 825–830.
- Gaines, W.L., Harrod, R.J., Dickinson, J.D., Lyons, A.L., Halupka, K., 2010a. Integration of Northern spotted owl habitat and fuels treatments in the eastern Cascades, Washington, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 2045–2052.
- Gaines, W.L., Haggard, M., Begley, J., Lehmkuhl, J., Lyons, A., 2010b. Short-term effects of thinning and burning restoration treatments on avian community composition, density, and nest survival in the eastern Cascades dry forests, Washington. For. Sci. 56 (1), 88–99.
- Gärtner, S., Reynolds, K.M., Hessburg, P.F., Hummel, S.S., Twery, M., 2008. Decision support for evaluating landscape departure and prioritizing forest management activities in a changing environment. For. Ecol. Manage. 256, 1666–1676.
- Garner, J.D., 2013. Selection of Disturbed Habitat by Fishers (*Martes pennanti*) in the Sierra National Forest. PhD Diss., Humboldt State University, 55 p.
- Gomez, D.M., Anthony, R.G., Hayes, J.P., 2005. Influence of thinning of Douglas-fir forests on population parameters and diet of northern flying squirrels. J. Wildl. Manage. 69, 1670–1682.
- Guarin, A., Taylor, A.H., 2005. Drought triggered tree mortality in mixed conifer forests in Yosemite National Park, California, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 218, 229– 244.
- Gunderson, L.H., Holling, C.S. (Eds.), 2002. Panarchy: Understanding Transformations in Systems of Humans and Nature. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Habeck, J.R., 1976. Forests, fuels and fire in the Selway-Bitterroot Wilderness, Idaho. Proc. Montana Tall Timbers Fire Ecol. Conf. Fire Land Manage. Symp. 14, 305–352.
- Hagmann, R.K., Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., 2013. Historical structure and composition of ponderosa pine and mixed-conifer forests in south-central Oregon. For. Ecol. Manage. 304, 492–504.
- Hagmann, R.K., Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., 2014. Historical conditions in mixedconifer forests on the eastern slopes of the northern Oregon Cascade Range, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 330, 158–170.
- Halofsky, J.E., Donato, D.C., Hibbs, D.E., Campbell, J.L., Cannon, M.D., Fontaine, J.B., Thompson, J.R., Anthony, R.G., Bormann, B.T., Kayes, L.J., Law, B.E., Peterson, D.L.,

Spies, . Mixed-severity fire regimes: lessons and hypotheses from the Klamath-Siskiyou Ecoregion. Ecosphere 2 (4) art40.

- Hann, W.J., Jones, J.L., Karl, M.G., Hessburg, P.F., Keane, R.E., Long, D.G., Menakis, J.P., McNicholl, C.H., Leonard, S.G., Gravenmeier, R.A., Smith, B.G., 1997. Landscape Dynamics of the Basin. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-405. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Res. Sta., Portland, OR (Chapter 3).
- Hanna, S., Munasinghe, M., (Eds.), 1995. Property Rights and the Environment: Social and Ecological Issues, Washington, DC, USA.
- Hanson, C.T., Odion, D.C., Dellasala, D.A., Baker, W.L., 2009. Overestimation of fire risk in the Northern Spotted Owl recovery plan. Conserv. Biol. 23, 1314– 1319.
- Hanson, C.T., Odion, D.C., Dellasala, D.A., Baker, W.L., 2010. More-comprehensive recovery actions for northern spotted owls in dry forests: reply to spies. Conserv. Biol. 24, 334–337.
- Harris, L., Taylor, A.H., 2015. Topography, fuels, and fire exclusion drive fire severity of the Rim Fire in an old-growth mixed conifer forest, Yosemite National Park, USA. Ecosystem. http://dx.doi.org/10.10.1007/s10021-015-9890-9.
- Harrod, R.J., McRae, B.H., Hartl, W.E., 1999. Historical stand reconstruction in ponderosa pine forests to guide silvicultural prescriptions. For. Ecol. Manage. 114, 433–446.
- Haugo, R.D., Hall, S.A., Gray, E.M., Gonzalez, P., Bakker, J.D., 2010. Influences of climate, fire, grazing, and logging on woody species composition along an elevation gradient in the eastern Cascades, Washington. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 2204–2213.
- Haugo, R., Zanger, C., DeMeo, T., Ringo, C., Shlisky, A., Blankenship, K., Simpson, M., Mellen-McLean, K., Kertis, J., Stern, M., 2015. A new approach to evaluate forest structure restoration needs across Oregon and Washington, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 335, 37–50.
- Hay, L.E., Markstrom, S.L., Ward-Garrison, C., 2011. Watershed-scale response to climate change through the twenty-first century for selected basins across the United States. Earth Interact. 15, 1–37.
- Hemstrom, M.A., Ager, A.A., Vavra, M., Wales, B.C., Wisdom, M.J., 2004. State and transition approach for integrating landscape models. In: Hayes, J.L., Ager, A.A., Barbour, R.J. (Eds.), Methods for Integrating Modeling of Landscape Change: Interior Northwest Landscape Analysis System. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-610. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, pp. 17– 40.
- Hemstrom, M.A., Merzenich, J., Reger, A., Wales, B., 2007. Integrated analysis of landscape management scenarios using state and transition models in the upper Grande Ronde River Subbasin, Oregon, USA. Landscape Urban Plan. 80 (3), 198–211.
- Hessburg, P.F., Mitchell, R.G., Filip, G.M., 1994. Historical and Current Roles of Insects and Pathogens in Eastern Oregon and Washington Forested Landscapes. USDA For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-327, Portland, OR, pp. 72.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Kreiter, S.G., Miller, C.A., Salter, R.B., McNicholl, C.H., Hann, W.J., 1999a. Historical and Current Forest and Range Landscapes in the Interior Columbia River Basin and Portions of the Klamath and Great Basins. Part 1. Linking Vegetation Patterns and Landscape Vulnerability to Potential Insect and Pathogen Disturbances. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-458. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Res. Sta., Portland, OR, 357 pp.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., 1999b. Detecting change in forest spatial patterns from reference conditions. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1232–1252.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Miller, C.A., Kreiter, S.G., Salter, R.B., 1999c. Modeling Change in Potential Landscape Vulnerability to Forest Insect and Pathogen Disturbances: Methods for Forested Subwatersheds Sampled in the Mid-scale Interior Columbia River Basin Assessment. PNW-GTR-454. USDA, For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 56 p.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., 1999d. Using Natural Variation Estimates to Detect Ecologically Important Change in Forest Spatial Patterns: A Case Study of the Eastern Washington Cascades. PNW Res. Pap. PNW-RP-514. USDA, For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 65 p.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., Ottmar, R.D., Alvarado, E., 2000a. Recent changes (1930's–1990's) in spatial patterns of interior northwest forests, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 136, 53–83.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Kreiter, S.D., Miller, C.A., McNicoll, C.H., Wasienko-Holland, M., 2000b. Classifying Plant Series-level Forest Potential Vegetation Types: Methods for Subbasins Sampled in the Midscale Assessment of the Interior Columbia Basin. Res. Pap. PNW-RP-524. USDA, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 59 p.
- Hessburg, P.F., Agee, J.K., 2003. An environmental narrative of Inland Northwest US forests, 1800–2000. For. Ecol. Manage. 178, 23–59 (Fire and Aquatic Ecosystems).
- Hessburg, P.F., Reynolds, K.M., Salter, R.B., Richmond, M.B., 2004. Using a decision support system to estimate departures of present forest landscape patterns from historical conditions: an example from the Inland Northwest Region of the United States. In: Perera, A.H., Buse, L.J., Weber, M.G. (Eds.), Emulating Natural Forest Landscape Disturbances: Concepts and Applications. Columbia University Press, New York, USA, pp. 158–175 (Chapter 13).
 Hessburg, P.F., Agee, J.K., Franklin, J.F., 2005. Dry forests and wildland fires of the
- Hessburg, P.F., Agee, J.K., Franklin, J.F., 2005. Dry forests and wildland fires of the inland Northwest USA: contrasting the landscape ecology of the pre-settlement and modern eras. For. Ecol. Manage. 211, 117–139.
- Hessburg, P.F., Salter, R.B., James, K.M., 2007. Re-examining fire severity relations in pre-management era mixed-conifer forests: inferences from landscape patterns of forest structure. Landscape Ecol. 22, 5–24.

- Hessburg, P.F., Povak, N.A., Salter, R.B., 2010. Thinning and prescribed fire effects on snag abundance and spatial pattern in an eastern Cascade Range dry forest, Washington, USA. For. Sci. 56, 74-87.
- Hessburg, P.F., Reynolds, K.M., Salter, R.B., Dickinson, J.D., Gaines, W.L., Harrod, R.J., 2013. Landscape evaluation for restoration planning on the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, USA. Sustainability 5, 805-840.
- Hessburg, P.F., Salter, R.B., Reynolds, K.M., Dickinson, J.D., Gaines, W.L., Harrod, R.J., 2014. Landscape evaluation and restoration planning. In: Reynolds, K.M., Hessburg, P.F., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), Making Transparent Environmental Management Decisions: Applications of the Ecosystem Management Decision Support System, Environmental Science and Engineering Series. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-32000-2_7 (Chapter 7).
- Hessburg, P.F., Churchill, D.J., Larson, A.J., Haugo, R.D., Miller, C., Spies, T.A., North, M.P., Povak, N.A., Belote, R.T., Singleton, P.H., Gaines, W.L., Keane, R.E., Aplet, G. H., Stephens, S.L., Morgan, P., Bisson, P.A., Rieman, B.E., Salter, R.B., Reeves, G.H., 2015. Restoring fire-prone landscapes: seven core principles. Landscape Ecol. 30 (10), 1805–1835.
- Hicke, J.A., Logan, J.A., Powell, J., Ojima, D.S., 2006. Changing temperatures influence suitability for modeled mountain pine beetle (Dendroctonus ponderosae) outbreaks in the western United States. J. Geophys. Res. 111, G02019 (12 pp.)
- Hiers, J.K., O'Brien, J.J., Mitchell, R.J., Grego, J.M., Loudermilk, E.L., 2009. The wildland fuel cell concept: an approach to characterize fine-scale variation in fuels and fire in frequently burned longleaf pine forests. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 315-325.
- Higuera, P.E., Abatzoglou, J.T., Littell, J.S., Morgan, P., 2015. The changing strength and nature of fire-climate relationships in the Northern Rocky Mountains, USA, 1902–2008. PloS one 10 (6), e0127563.
- Holling, C.S., 1973. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Svst. 4. 1-23.
- Holloway, G.L., Smith, W.P., 2011. A meta-analysis of forest age and structure effects on northern flying squirrel densities. J. Wildl. Manage. 75, 668-674.
- Holden, Z.A., Morgan, P., Evans, J.S., 2009. A predictive model of burn severity based on 20-year satellite-inferred burn severity data in a large southwestern US wilderness area. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 2399–2406.
- Hopkins, T., Larson, A.J., Belote, R.T., 2014. Contrasting effects of wildfire and ecological restoration in old-growth western larch forests. For. Sci. 60, 1005-1013.
- Hudak, A.T., Rickert, I., Morgan, P., Strand, E., Lewis, S.A., Robichaud, P.R., Hoffman, C., Holden, Z.A., 2011. Review of Fuel Treatment Effectiveness in Forests and Rangelands and a Case Study Form the 2007 Megafires in Central Idaho, USA. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-252, Fort Collins, CO.
- Huff, M.H., Ottmar, R.D., Alvarado, E., Vihnanek, R.E., Lehmkuhl, J.F., Hessburg, P.F., Everett, R.L., 1995. Historical and Current Forest Landscapes of Eastern Oregon and Washington. Part 2. Linking Vegetation Characteristics to Potential Fire Behavior and Related Smoke Production. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-355. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Res. Sta., Portland, OR, 43 p.

Hurteau, M.D., North, M., 2010. Carbon recovery rates following different wildfire risk mitigation treatments. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 930-937.

- Hutto, R.L., 1995. Composition of bird communities following stand-replacement fires in northern Rocky Mountain (USA) conifer forests. Conserv. Biol. 9, 1041-1058.
- Jimerson, T.M., Jones, D.W., 2003. Megram: blowdown, wildfire, and the effects of fuel treatments. Tall Timbers Research Station Misc. Publ. No. 13, 55-59.
- Johnson, K.N., Franklin, J.F., Johnson, D.L., 2013. A Plan for the Klamath Tribes' Management of the Klamath Reservation Forest: Report to the Klamath Tribes, July, 2008. <www.klamathtribes.org/background/documents/Klamath_Plan_ Final_May_2008.pdf>.
- Jones, B.E., Rickman, T.H., Vazquez, A., Sado, Y., Tate, K.W., 2005. Removal of encroaching conifers to regenerate degraded aspen stands in the Sierra Nevada. Restor. Ecol. 13, 373-379.
- Kaufmann, M.R., Binkley, D., Fulé, P.Z., Johnson, M., Stephens, S.L., Swetnam, T.W., 2007. Defining old growth for fire-adapted forests of the western United States. Ecol. Soc. 12 (2), 15.
- Kane, V.R., Lutz, J.A., Cansler, C.A., Povak, N.A., Churchill, D.J., Smith, D.F., Kane, J.T., North, M.P., 2015. Water balance and topography predict fire and forest structure patterns. For. Ecol. Manage. 338, 1-13.
- Keane, J.J., 2014. California spotted owl: scientific considerations for forest planning. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Ge. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 437-467.
- Keane, R.E., Cary, G.J., Davies, I.D., Flannigan, M.D., Gardner, R.H., Lavorel, S., Lenihan, J.M., Li, C., Rupp, T.S., 2004. A classification of landscape fire succession models: spatial simulations of fire and vegetation dynamics. Ecol. Model. 179, 3-27.
- Keane, R.E., Reinhardt, E.D., Scott, J., Gray, K., Reardon, J., 2005. Estimating forest canopy bulk density using six indirect methods. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 724-739.
- Keane, R.E., Holsinger, L.M., Pratt, S.D., 2006. Simulating Historical Landscape Dynamics Using the Landscape Fire Succession Model LANDSUM Version 4.0. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-171CD. USDA, For. Serv., Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, 73 p.
- Keane, R.E., Hessburg, P.F., Landres, P.B., Swanson, F.J., 2009. The use of historical range and variability (HRV) in landscape management. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 1025-1037.
- Keane, R.E., 2012. Creating historical range of variation (HRV) time series using landscape modeling: overview and issues. In: Wiens, J.A., Hayward, G.D., Hugh,

D., Giffen, C. (Eds.), Historical Environmental Variation in Conservation and Natural Resource Management. John Wiley & Sons (Chapter 8).

- Kennedy, M.C., Ford, E.D., Singleton, P., Finney, M., Agee, J.K., 2008. Informed multiobjective decision-making in environmental management using Pareto optimality. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 181–192.
- Kennedy, M.C., Johnson, M.C., 2014. Fuel treatment prescriptions alter spatial patterns of fire severity around the wildland-urban interface during the Wallow Fire, Arizona, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 318, 122–132.
- Kitzberger, T., Aráoz, E., Gowda, J.H., Mermoz, M., Morales, J.M., 2012. Decreases in fire spread probability with forest age promotes alternative community states, reduced resilience to climate variability and large fire regime shifts. Ecosystems 15 (1), 97–112.
- Knapp, E., North, M., Benech, M., Estes, B., 2012. The variable-density thinning study at Stanislaus-Tuolumne experimental forest. In: North, M. (Ed.), Managing Sierra Nevada Forests. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-237. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 127–139.
- Knapp, E.E., Skinner, C.N., North, M.P., Estes, B.L., 2013. Long-term overstory and understory change following logging and fire exclusion in a Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 310, 903-914.
- Kotliar, N.B., Hejl, S.J., Hutto, R.L., Saab, V.A., Melcher, C.P., McFadzen, M.E., 2002. Effects of fire and post-fire salvage logging on avian communities in coniferdominated forests of the western United States. Stud. Avian Biol. 25, 49-64.
- Kuhn, T.J., Safford, H.D., Jones, B.E., Tate, K.W., 2011. Aspen (Populus tremuloides) stands and their contribution to plant diversity in a semiarid coniferous landscape. Plant Ecol. 212, 1451-1463.
- Lake, F.K., Long, J.W., 2014. Fire and tribal cultural resources. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 173-186.
- Landres, P.B., Morgan, P., Swanson, F.J., 1999. Overview of the use of natural variability concepts in managing ecological systems. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1179-1188.
- Larson, A.J., Churchill, D., 2012. Tree spatial patterns in fire-frequent forests of western North America, including mechanisms of pattern formation and implications for designing fuel reduction and restoration treatments. For, Ecol. Manage. 267, 74-92.
- Larson, A.J., Stover, K.C., Keyes, C.R., 2012. Effects of restoration thinning on spatial heterogeneity in mixed-conifer forest. Can. J. For. Res. 42, 1505-1517.
- Larson, A.J., Belote, R.T., Cansler, C.A., Parks, S.A., Dietz, M.S., 2013. Latent resilience in ponderosa pine forest: effects of resumed frequent fire. Ecol. Appl. 23, 1243-1249.
- Lauvaux, C.A., Skinner, C.N., Taylor, A.H., 2016. High severity fire and mixed conifer forest-chaparral dynamics in the southern Cascade Range, USA. For. Ecol. Manage, 363, 74-85.
- Lee, D.E., Bond, M.L., 2015. Occupancy of California Spotted Owl sites following a large fire in the Sierra Nevada, California. The Condor 117 (2), 228-236.
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., Hessburg, P.F., Everett, R.L., Huff, M.H., Ottmar, R.D., 1994. Historical and Current Forest Landscapes of Eastern Oregon and Washington. Part 1. Vegetation Patterns and Insect and Disease Hazards. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-328. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Res. Sta., Portland, OR, USA, 88 p.
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., 2004. Epiphytic lichen diversity and biomass in low-elevation forests of the eastern Washington Cascade range, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 187, 381-392
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., Kistler, K.D., Begley, J.S., Boulanger, J., 2006a. Demography of northern flying squirrels informs ecosystem management of western interior forests. Ecol. Appl. 16, 584-600.
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., Kistler, K.D., Begley, J.S., 2006b. Bushy-tailed woodrat abundance in dry forests of eastern Washington. J. Mammal. 87 (2), 371–379.
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., Kennedy, M., Ford, E.D., Singleton, P.H., Gaines, W.L., Lind, R.L., 2007. Seeing the forest for the fuel: integrating ecological values and fuels management. For. Ecol. Manage. 246, 73–80.
- Lehmkuhl, J.F., Lyons, A.L., Bracken, E., Leingang, J., Gaines, W.L., Dodson, E.K., Singleton, P.H., 2013. Forage composition, productivity, and utilization in the eastern Washington Cascade Range. Northwest Sci. 87 (3), 207–231. Lenihan, J.M., Drapek, R., Bachelet, D., Neilson, R.P., 2003. Climate change effects on
- vegetation distribution, carbon, and fire in California. Ecol. Appl. 13, 1667–1681.
- Lenihan, J.M., Bachelet, D., Drapek, R., Neilson, R.P., 2006. The response of vegetation distribution, ecosystem productivity, and fire in California to future climate scenarios simulated by the MC1 Dynamic Vegetation Model. Public Interest Energy Research, California Energy Commission. CEC-500-2005-191-SF.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Franklin, J.F., 2002. Conserving Forest Biodiversity: A Comprehensive Multi-scaled Approach. Island Press.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Foster, D.R., Franklin, J.F., Hunter, M.L., Noss, R.F., Schmiegelow, F.A., Perry, D.A., 2004. Salvage harvesting policies after natural disturbance. Science 303 (5662), 1303.
- Littell, J.S., Peterson, D.L., Tjoelker, M., 2008. Douglas-fir growth in mountain ecosystems: water limits tree growth from stand to region. Ecol. Monogr. 78, 349-368
- Littell, J.S., McKenzie, D., Peterson, D.L., Westerling, A.L., 2009. Climate and wildfire area burned in western US ecoprovinces, 1916–2003. Ecol. Appl. 19, 1003–1021.
- Loehle, C., 2004. Applying landscape principles to fire hazard reductions. For. Ecol. Manage. 198, 261-267.
- Logan, J.A., Régnière, J., Powell, J.A., 2003. Assessing the impacts of global warming on forest pest dynamics. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 130-137.
- Long, J.N., Shaw, J.D., 2005. A density management diagram for even-aged ponderosa pine stands. West. J. Appl. For. 20, 205-215.

- Long, J., Skinner, C., Charnley, S., Hubbert, K., Quinn-Davidson, L., Meyer, M., 2014a. Post-wildfire management. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 187–220.
- Long, J., Skinner, C., North, M., Hunsaker, C., Quinn-Davidson, L., 2014b. Integrative approaches: promoting socioecological resilience. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 17–54.
- Loudermilk, E.L., Scheller, R.M., Weisberg, P.J., Yang, J., Dilts, T.E., Karam, S., Skinner, C.N., 2013. Carbon dynamics in the future forest: the importance of long-term successional legacy and climate-fire interactions. Glob. Change Biol. 19, 3502– 3515.
- Loudermilk, E.L., Stanton, A., Scheller, R.M., Dilts, T.E., Weisberg, P.J., Skinner, C., Yang, J., 2014. Effectiveness of fuel treatments for mitigating wildfire risk and sequestering forest carbon: a case study in the Lake Tahoe Basin. For. Ecol. Manage. 323, 114–125.
- Luce, C.H., Holden, C.A., 2009. Declining annual streamflow distributions in the Pacific Northwest United States, 1948–2006. Geophys. Res. Lett. 36, L16401. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2009GL039407.
- Lutz, J.A., Halpern, C.B., 2006. Tree mortality during early forest development: a long-term study of rates, causes, and consequences. Ecol. Monogr. 76, 257–275.
- Lutz, J.A., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Franklin, J.F., 2010. Climatic water deficit, tree species ranges, and climate change in Yosemite National Park. J. Biogeogr. 37, 936–950.
- Lutz, J.A., Key, C.H., Kolden, C.A., Kane, J.T., van Wagtendonk, J.W., 2011. Fire frequency, area burned, and severity: a quantitative approach to defining a normal fire year. Fire Ecol. 7, 51–65.
- Lydersen, J., North, M., 2012. Topographic variation in structure of mixed-conifer forests under an active-fire regime. Ecosystems 15 (7), 1134–1146.
- Lydersen, J.M., North, M.P., Knapp, E.E., Collins, B.M., 2013. Quantifying spatial patterns of tree groups and gaps in mixed-conifer forests: reference conditions and long-term changes following fire suppression and logging. For. Ecol. Manage. 304, 370–382.
- Lyons, A.L., Gaines, W.L., Lehmkuhl, J.F., Harrod, R.J., 2008. Short term effects of fire and fire surrogate treatments on foraging tree selection by cavity-nesting birds in dry forests of central Washington. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 3203–3211.
- Manning, T., Hagar, J.C., McComb, B.C., 2012. Thinning of young Douglas-fir forests decreases density of northern flying squirrels in the Oregon Cascades. For. Ecol. Manage. 264, 115–124.
- Martin, R.E., Sapsis, D.B., 1992. Fires as agents of biodiversity: pyrodiversity promotes biodiversity. In: Harris, R.R., Erman, D.E., Kerner, H.M. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium on Biodiversity of Northwestern California. Wildland Resources Center Report No. 29. University of California, Berkeley, CA, pp. 150–157.
- Maxwell, R.S., Taylor, A.H., Skinner, C.N., Safford, H.D., Isaacs, R.E., Airey, C., Young, A.B., 2014. Landscape-scale modeling of reference period forest conditions and fire behavior on heavily logged lands. Ecosphere 5 art32.
- McDowell, N., Brooks, J., Fitzgerald, S., Bond, B., 2003. Carbon isotope discrimination and growth response of old *Pinus ponderosa* trees to stand density reductions. Plant, Cell Env. 26, 631–644.
- McGarigal, K., Romme, W.H., 2012. Modeling historical range of variability at a range of scales: an example application. In: Wiens, J.A., Hayward, G.D., Hugh, D., Giffen, C. (Eds.), Historical Environmental Variation in Conservation and Natural Resource Management. John Wiley & Sons (Chapter 9).
- McIver, J.D., Stephens, S.L., Agee, J.K., et al., 2013. Ecological effects of alternative fuel reduction treatments: principal findings of the national Fire and Fire Surrogates Study (FFS). Int. J. Wildl. Fire 22, 63–82.
 McKenzie, D., Gedalof, Z.E., Peterson, D.L., Mote, P., 2004. Climatic change, wildfire,
- McKenzie, D., Gedalof, Z.E., Peterson, D.L., Mote, P., 2004. Climatic change, wildfire and conservation. Conserv. Biol. 18, 890–902.
- Meigs, G.W., Donato, D.C., Campbell, J.L., Martin, J.G., Law, B.E., 2009. Forest fire impacts on carbon uptake, storage, and emission: the role of burn severity in the Eastern Cascades, Oregon. Ecosystems 12, 1246–1267.
- Merschel, A.G., Spies, T.A., Heyerdahl, E.K., 2014. Mixed-conifer forests of central Oregon: effects of logging and fire exclusion vary with environment. Ecol. Appl. 24, 1670–1688.
- Miesel, J.R., Boerner, R.E.J., Skinner, C.N., 2009. Mechanical restoration of California mixed-conifer forests: does it matter which trees are cut? Restor. Ecol. 17, 784– 795.
- Millar, C.I., Woolfenden, W.B., 1999. The role of climate change in interpreting historical variability. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1207–1216.
- Millar, C.I., Stephenson, N.L., Stephens, S.L., 2007. Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty. Ecol. Appl. 17, 2145–2151.
- Millar, C.I., 2014. Historic variability: informing restoration strategies, not prescribing targets. J. Sust. For. 33 (sup1), S28–S42.
- Miller, J.D., Safford, H.D., Crimmins, M., Thode, A.E., 2009. Quantitative evidence for increasing forest fire severity in the Sierra Nevada and southern Cascade Mountains, California and Nevada, USA. Ecosystems 12, 16–32.
- Miller, J.D., Skinner, C.N., Safford, H.D., Knapp, E.E., Ramirez, C.M., 2012. Trends and causes of severity, size, and number of fires in northwestern California, USA. Ecol. Appl. 22, 184–203.
- Mitchell, R.G., Waring, R.H., Pitman, G.B., 1983. Thinning lodgepole pine increases tree vigor and resistance to mountain pine beetle. For. Sci. 29 (1), 204–211.

- Mitchell, R.J., Hiers, J.K., O'Brien, J., Starr, G., 2009. Ecological forestry in the southeast: understanding the ecology of fuels. J. For. 107, 391–397.
- Moeur, M., Spies, T.A., Hemstrom, M., Martin, J.R., Alegria, J., Browning, J., Cissel, J., Cohen, W.B., Demeo, T.E., Healey, S., Warbington, R., 2005. Northwest Forest Plan – The First 10 years (1994–2003): Status and Trend of Late-successional and Old-growth Forest. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-646. USDA, For. Serv., Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 142 p.
- Moghaddas, J.J., Collins, B.M., Menning, K., Moghaddas, E.E., Stephens, S.L., 2010. Fuel treatment effects on modeled landscape-level fire behavior in the northern Sierra Nevada. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 1751–1765.
- Morgan, P., Aplet, G.H., Haufler, J.B., Humphries, H.C., Moore, M.M., Wilson, W.D., 1994. Historical range of variability: a useful tool for evaluating ecosystem change. J. Sust. For. 2, 87–111.
- Moritz, M.A., Hessburg, P.F., Povak, N.A., 2011. Native fire regimes and landscape resilience. In: The Landscape Ecology of Fire. Springer, Netherlands, pp. 51–86.
- Moritz, M.A., Hurteau, M.D., Suding, K.N., D'Antonio, C.M., 2013. Bounded ranges of variation as a framework for future conservation and fire management. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1286, 92–107.
- Naficy, C., Sala, A., Keeling, E.G., Graham, J., DeLuca, T.H., 2010. Interactive effects of historical logging and fire exclusion on ponderosa pine forest structure in the northern Rockies. Ecol. Appl. 20, 1851–1864.
- Naficy, C.E., Keeling, E., Landres, P., Hessburg, P.F., Veblen, T.T., Sala, A., 2016. Wilderness in the 21st-century: a framework for testing the assumptions about ecological intervention in wilderness using a case study of fire ecology in the Rocky Mountains. J. For. 113. http://dx.doi.org/10.5849/jof.15-010.
- Nagel, T.A., Taylor, A.H., 2005. Fire and persistence of montane chaparral in mixedconifer forest landscapes in the northern Sierra Nevada, Lake Tahoe Basin, California, USA. J. Torrey Bot. Soc. 132, 442–457.
- Neilson, R.P., 1986. High-resolution climatic analysis and southwest biogeography. Science 232 (4746), 27–34.
- Neilson, R.P., 1995. A model for predicting continental-scale vegetation distribution and water balance. Ecol. Appl. 5, 362–385.
- North, M., Hurteau, M., Fiegener, R., Barbour, M., 2005. Influence of fire and El Nino on tree recruitment varies by species in Sierran mixed conifer. For. Sci. 51, 187– 197.
- North, M., Stine, P., O'Hara, K., Zielinski, W., Stephens, S., 2009. An Ecosystem Management Strategy for Sierra Mixed-conifer Forests. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-220. USDA, For. Serv. Pacific Southwest Research Station, 52 p.
- North, M., Collins, B.M., Stephens, S., 2012. Using fire to increase the scale, benefits, and future maintenance of fuels treatments. J. For. 110, 392–401.
- North, M., Collins, B., Keane, J., Long, J., Skinner, C., Zielinski, W., 2014. Synopsis of emergent approaches. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 55–70.
- North, M., Brough, A., Long, J., Collins, B., Bowden, P., Yasuda, D., Miller, J., Suighara, N., 2015. Constraints on mechanized treatment significantly limit mechanical fuels reduction extent in the Sierra Nevada. J. For. 113, 40–48.
- Noss, R.F., Franklin, J.F., Baker, W.L., Schoennagel, T., Moyle, P.B., 2006. Managing fire-prone forests in the western United States. Front. Ecol. Environ. 4, 481–487. Odion, D.C., Moritz, M.A., DellaSala, D.A., 2010. Alternative community states
- maintained by fire in the Klamath Mountains, USA. J. Ecol. 98, 96–105.
- Odion, D.C., Hanson, C.T., Arsenault, A., Baker, W.L., DellaSala, D.A., Hutto, R.L., Klenner, W., Moritz, M.A., Sherriff, R.L., Veblen, T.T., Williams, M.A., 2014. Examining historical and current mixed-severity fire regimes in ponderosa pine and mixed-conifer forests of western North America. PLoS One 9 (2), e87852.
- O'Hara, K.L., Latham, P.A., Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., 1996. A structural classification for Inland Northwest vegetation. West. J. Appl. For. 11, 97–102.
- Oliver, C.D., Larson, B.C., 1996. Forest Stand Dynamics. McGraw-Hill.
- Parks, S.A., Miller, C., Nelson, C.R., Holden, Z.A., 2014. Previous fires moderate burn severity of subsequent wildland fires in two large western US wilderness areas. Ecosystems 17, 29–42.
- Parks, S.A., Holsinger, L.M., Miller, C., Nelson, C.R., 2015a. Wildland fire as a selfregulating mechanism: the role of previous burns and weather in limiting fire progression. Ecol. Appl. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/14-1430.1.
- Parks, S.A., Miller, C., Parisien, M.A., Holsinger, L.M., Dobrowski, S.Z., Abatzoglou, J., 2015b. Wildland fire deficit and surplus in the western United States, 1984– 2012. Ecosphere 6 (12), pp.art275-art275.
- Parsons, R.A., Mell, W.E., McCauley, P., 2011. Linking 3D spatial models of fuels and fire: effects of spatial heterogeneity on fire behavior. Ecol. Model. 222, 679–691.
- Pearson, R.G., Dawson, T.P., 2003. Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 12, 361–371.
- Pechony, O., Shindell, D.T., 2010. Driving forces of global wildfires over the past millennium and the forthcoming century. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 19167– 19170.
- Pederson, G.T., Gray, S.T., Woodhouse, C.A., Betancourt, J.L., Fagre, D.B., Littell, J.S., Watson, E., Luckman, B.H., Graumlich, L.J., 2011. The unusual nature of recent snowpack declines in the North American Cordillera. Science 333 (6040), 332– 335.
- Perry, D.A., 1988. Landscape patterns and forest pests. Northwest Environ. J. 4, 213–228.
- Perry, D.A., Jing, H., Youngblood, A., Oetter, D., 2004. Forest structure and fire susceptibility in volcanic landscapes of the eastern High Cascades, Oregon. Conserv. Biol. 18, 913–926.

- Perry, D.A., Oren, R., Hart, S.C., 2008. Forest Ecosystems. John Hopkins University Press.
- Perry, D.A., Hessburg, P.F., Skinner, C.N., Spies, T.A., Stephens, S.L., Taylor, A.H., Franklin, J.F., McComb, B., Riegel, G., 2011. Ecology of mixed-severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and California. For. Ecol. Manage. 262, 703– 717.
- Perry, D.A., Griffiths, R.P., Moldenke, A.R., Madson, S.L., 2012. Abiotic and biotic soil characteristics in old growth forests and thinned or unthinned mature stands in three regions of Oregon. Diversity 4 (3), 334–362.Peterson, D.W., Dodson, E.K., Harrod, R.J., 2015. Post-fire logging reduces surface
- Peterson, D.W., Dodson, E.K., Harrod, R.J., 2015. Post-fire logging reduces surface woody fuels up to four decades following wildfire. For. Ecol. Manage. 338, 84– 91.
- Phillips, C.E., Tempel, D.J., Gutiérrez, R.J., 2010. Do California spotted owls select nest trees close to forest edges? J Raptor Res 44 (4), 311–314.
- Pickett, S.T., White, P.S. (Eds.), 2013. The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics. Elsevier.
- Pimont, F., Dupuy, J.L., Linn, R.R., Dupont, S., 2011. Impacts of tree canopy structure on wind flows and fire propagation simulated with FIRETEC. Ann. For. Sci. 68, 523–530.
- Powell, D.C., 1999. Suggested Stocking Levels for Forest Stands in Northeastern Oregon and Southeastern Washington: An Implementation Guide for the Umatilla National Forest. USDA Forest Service, F14-SO-TP-03-99, 300 p.
- Prichard, S.J., Peterson, D.L., Jacobson, K., 2010. Fuel treatments reduce the severity of wildfire effects in dry mixed-conifer forest, Washington, USA. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 1615–1626.
- Prichard, S.J., Kennedy, M.C., 2014. Fuel treatments and landform modify landscape patterns of burn severity in an extreme fire event. Ecol. Appl. 24, 571–590.
- Quinn-Davidson, L.N., Varner, J.M., 2012. Impediments to prescribed fire across agency, landscape, and managers: an example from northern California. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 21, 210–218.
- Raffa, K.F., Aukema, B.H., Bentz, B.J., Carroll, A.L., Hicke, J.A., Turner, M.G., Romme, W.H., 2008. Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: the dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. BioScience 58, 501–517.
- Raphael, M.G., Wisdom, M.J., Rowland, M.M., Holthausen, R.S., Wales, B.C., Marcot, B.G., Rich, T.D., 2001. Status and trends of habitats of terrestrial vertebrates in relation to land management in the interior Columbia River Basin. For. Ecol. Manage. 153, 63–87.
- Raymond, C.L., Peterson, D.L., 2005. Fuel treatments alter the effects of wildfire in a mixed-evergreen forest, Oregon, USA. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 2981–2995.
- Rebertus, A.J., Williamson, G.B., Moser, E.B., 1989. Fire-induced changes in *Quercus laevis* spatial patterns in Florida sandhills. J. Ecol. 77, 638–650.
- Reineke, L.H., 1933. Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J. Agric. Res. 46, 627–638.
- Reinhardt, E.D., Keane, R.E., Calkin, D.E., Cohen, J.D., 2008. Objectives and considerations for wildland fuel treatment in forested ecosystems of the interior western United States. For. Ecol. Manage. 256 (12), 1997–2006.
- Reynolds, K.M., Hessburg, P.F., 2005. Decision support for integrated landscape evaluation and restoration planning. For. Ecol. Manage. 207, 263–278.
- Reynolds, K.M., Hessburg, P.F., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), 2014. Making Transparent Environmental Management Decisions: Applications of the Ecosystem Management Decision Support System Springer. Berlin 337 p
- Management Decision Support System. Springer, Berlin, 337 p. Rieman, B.E., Hessburg, P.F., Lee, D.C., Thurow, R.F., Sedell, J.R., 2000. Toward an integrated classification of ecosystems: defining opportunities for managing fish and forest health. Environ. Manage. 25, 425–444.
- Rieman, B.E., Hessburg, P.F., Luce, C., Dare, M.R., 2010. Wildfire and management of forests and native fishes: conflict or opportunity for convergent solutions? BioScience 60, 460–468.
- Ritchie, M.W., 2005. Ecological Research at the Gooseneck Adaptive Management Area. In Northeastern California. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-192. USDA, For. Serv. Pacific Southwest Research Station, 121 p.
- Ritchie, M.W., Harcksen, K.A., 2005. Accelerating development of late-successional features in second-growth pine stands of the Goosenest Adaptive Management Area. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on Ponderosa Pine: Issues, Trends, and Management. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-198. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, pp. 81–93.
- Ritchie, M.W., Skinner, C.N., Hamilton, T.A., 2007. Probability of tree survival after wildfire in an interior pine forest of northern California: effects of thinning and prescribed fire. For. Ecol. Manage. 247, 200–208.
- Ritchie, M.W., Wing, B.M., Hamilton, T.A., 2008. Stability of the large tree component in treated and untreated late-seral interior ponderosa pine stands. Can. J. For. Res. 38, 919–923.
- Ritchie, M.W., Knapp, E.E., Skinner, C.N., 2013. Snag longevity and surface fuel accumulation following post-fire logging in a ponderosa pine dominated forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 287, 113–122.
- Ritchie, M.W., Knapp, E.E., 2014. Establishment of a long-term fire salvage study in an interior ponderosa pine forest. J. For. 112, 395–400.
- Roberts, S.L., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Miles, A.K., Kelt, D.A., 2011. Effects of fire on spotted owl occupancy in a late-successional forest. Biol. Conserv. 144, 610-619.
- Roberts, S.L., Kelt, D.A., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Miles, A.K., Meyer, M.D., 2015. Effects of fire on small mammal communities in frequent-fire forests in California. J. Mammal. 96, 107–119.
- Robock, A., 1988. Enhancement of surface cooling due to forest fire smoke. Science 242, 911–913.
- Robock, A., 1991. Surface cooling due to forest fire smoke. J. Geophys. Res. 98 (D11), 20869–20878.

- Rogers, B.M., Neilson, R.P., Drapek, R., Lenihan, J.M., Wells, J.R., Bachelet, D., Law, B. E., 2011. Impacts of climate change on fire regimes and carbon stocks of the US Pacific Northwest. J. Geophys. Res. 116 (G3).
- Rollins, M.G., Swetnam, T.W., Morgan, P., 2001. Evaluating a century of fire patterns in two Rocky Mountain wilderness areas using digital fire atlases. Can. J. For. Res. 31, 2107–2123.
- Roloff, G.J., Mealey, S.P., Clay, C., Barry, J., Yanish, C., Neuenschwander, L., 2005. A process for modeling short- and long-term risk in the southern Oregon Cascades. For. Ecol. Manage. 211, 166–190.
- Roloff, G.J., Mealey, S.P., Bailey, J.D., 2012. Comparative hazard assessment for protected species in a fire-prone landscape. For. Ecol. Manage. 277, 1–10.
- Savage, M., Mast, J.N., 2005. How resilient are southwestern ponderosa pine forests after crown fire? Can. J. For. Res. 35, 967–977.
- Scheller, R.M., Spencer, W.D., Rustigian-Romsos, H., Syphard, A.D., Ward, B.C., Strittholt, J.R., 2011. Using stochastic simulation to evaluate competing risks of wildfires and fuels management on an isolated forest carnivore. Landscape Ecol. 26, 1491–1504.
- Schmidt, D.A., Taylor, A.H., Skinner, C.N., 2008. The influence of fuels treatment and landscape arrangement on simulated fire behavior, Southern Cascade range, California. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 3170–3184.
- Schoennagel, T., Veblen, T.T., Romme, W.H., 2004. The interaction of fire, fuels, and climate across Rocky Mountain forests. BioScience 54, 661–676.
- Scholl, A.E., Taylor, A.H., 2010. Fire regimes, forest change, and self-organization in an old-growth mixed-conifer forest, Yosemite National Park, USA. Ecol. Appl. 20, 362–380.
- Scott, J.H., Reinhardt, E.D., 2001. Assessing Crown Fire Susceptibility by Linking Models of Surface and Crown Fire Behavior. Res. Pap. RMRS-RP-29. USDA, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, 59 p.
- Seager, S.T., Markus, A., Krommes, A.J., 2013. Aspen Restoration Strategy for the Fremont-Winema National Forest. Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, 51p.
- Shaw, J.D., 2000. Application of stand density index to irregularly structured stands. West. J. Appl. For. 15, 40–42.
- Schwilk, D.W., Keeley, J.E., Knapp, E.E., McIver, J., Bailey, J.D., Fettig, C.J., Fiedler, C.E., Harrod, R.J., Moghaddas, J.J., Outcalt, K.W., Skinner, C.N., Stephens, S.L., Waldrop, T.A., Yaussy, D.A., Youngblood, A., 2009. The national Fire and Fire Surrogate study: effects of fuel reduction methods on forest vegetation structure and fuels. Ecol. Appl. 19, 285–304.
- Shinneman, D.J., Baker, W.L., Rogers, P.C., Kulakowski, D., 2013. Fire regimes of quaking aspen in the Mountain West. For. Ecol. Manage. 299, 22–34.
- Singleton, P.H., Lehmkuhl, J.F., Gaines, W.L., Graham, S.A., 2010. Space use and habitat selection by barred owls in the Eastern Cascades, Washington. J. Wildl. Manage. 74, 285–294.
- Singleton, P.H., 2013. Barred Owls and Northern Spotted Owls in the Eastern Cascade Range, Washington. PhD Dissertation, University of Washington. https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/handle/1773/22911.
- Singleton, P.H., 2015. Forest structure within barred owl (*Strix varia*) home ranges in the eastern Cascade Range, Washington. J. Raptor Res. 49 (2), 129–140.
- Skinner, C.N., 1995. Change in spatial characteristics of forest openings in the Klamath Mountains of northwestern California, USA. Landscape Ecol. 10 (4), 219–228.
- Skinner, C.N., Weatherspoon, C.P., 1996. Plantation characteristics affecting damage from wildfires. In: Redding, C.A., Cooper, S.L. (Eds.), Proceedings: Seventeenth Annual Forest Vegetation Conference, 16–18 January 1996, University of California, Shasta County Cooperative Extension, Redding, CA, pp. 137–142.
- Skinner, C.N., 2005. Reintroducing fire into the Blacks Mountain Research Natural Area: effects on fire hazard. In: Ritchie, M.W., Maguire, D.A., Youngblood, A. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium on Ponderosa Pine: Issues, Trends, and Management, 18–21 October 2004, Klamath Falls, OR. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-198. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 245–257.
- Skinner, C.N., Taylor, A.H., 2006. Southern Cascade bioregion. In: Sugihara, N.S., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Fites-Kaufman, J., Shaffer, K.E., Thode, A.E. (Eds.), Fire in California's Ecosystems. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, pp. 195–224.
- Skinner, C.N., Taylor, A.H., Agee, J.K., 2006. Klamath Mountains bioregion. In: Sugihara, N.S., van Wagtendonk, J.W., Shaffer, K., Fites-Kaufmann, J., Thode, A.E. (Eds.), Fire in California's Ecosystems. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, pp. 170–194.
- Smith, J.M., Paritsis, J., Veblen, T.T., Chapman, T.B., 2015. Permanent forest plots show accelerating tree mortality in subalpine forests of the Colorado Front Range from 1982 to 2013. For. Ecol. Manage. 341, 8–17.
- Smucker, K.M., Hutto, R.L., Steele, B.M., 2005. Changes in bird abundance after wildfire: importance of fire severity and time since fire. Ecol. Appl. 15, 1535– 1549.
- SNEP (Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project): Final Report to Congress, 1996. Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options, vols. I–III. University of California, Davis, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources. Wildl. Res. Center Rep. 37-40.
- Sovern, S.G., Forsman, E.D., Olson, G.S., Biswell, B.L., Taylor, M., Anthony, R.G., 2014. Barred owls and landscape attributes influence territory occupancy of northern spotted owls. J. Wildl. Manage. 78 (8), 1436–1443.
- Sovern, S.G., Forsman, E.D., Dugger, K.M., Taylor, M., 2015. Roosting habitat use and selection by northern spotted owls during natal dispersal. J. Wildl. Manage. 79 (2), 254–262.
- Spencer, W., Rustigian-Romsos, H., Strittholt, J., Scheller, R., Zielinski, W., Truex, R., 2011. Using occupancy and population models to assess habitat conservation opportunities for an isolated carnivore population. Biol. Conserv. 144, 788–803.

- Spies, T.A., Hemstrom, M.A., Youngblood, A., Hummel, S.S., 2006. Conserving oldgrowth forest diversity in disturbance-prone landscapes. Conserv. Biol. 20, 351– 362.
- Spies, T.A., Miller, J.D., Buchanan, J.B., Lehmkuhl, J.F., Franklin, J.F., Healey, S.P., Hessburg, P.F., Safford, H.D., Cohen, W.B., Kennedy, R.S.H., Knapp, E.E., Agee, J.K., Moeur, M., 2010. Underestimating risks to the Northern Spotted Owl in fireprone forests: a response to Hanson. Conserv. Biol. 24, 330–333.
- Spies, T.A., Lindenmayer, D.B., Gill, A.M., Stephens, S.L., Agee, J.K., 2012. Challenges and a checklist for biodiversity conservation in fire-prone forests: perspectives from the Pacific Northwest of USA and Southeastern Australia. Biol. Conserv. 145 (1), 5–14.
- Spies, T.A., White, E.M., Kline, J.D., Fischer, A.P., Ager, A., Bailey, J., Bolte, J., Koch, J., Platt, E., Olsen, C.S., Jacobs, D., Shindler, B., Steen-Adams, M.M., Hammer, R., 2014. Examining fire-prone forest landscapes as coupled human and natural systems. Ecol. Soc. 19, 9. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-06584-190309.
- Stavros, E.N., Abatzoglou, J., Larkin, N.K., McKenzie, M., Steel, E.A., 2014. Climate and very large wildland fires in the contiguous Western USA. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 23, 899–914.
- Steele, R., Geier-Hayes, K., 1989. The Douglas-fir/Ninebark Habitat Type in Central Idaho: Succession and Management. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-GTR-252. USDA-FS, Intermountain Research Station, Ogden, Utah, USA.
- Stephens, S.L., 1998. Evaluation of the effects of silvicultural and fuels treatments on potential fire behaviour in Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 105 (1), 21–35.
- Stephens, S.L., Moghaddas, J.J., 2005. Silvicultural and reserve impacts on potential fire behavior and forest conservation: twenty-five years of experience from Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forests. Biol. Conserv. 125, 369–379.
- Stephens, S.L., Fry, D.L., Franco-Vizcaino, E., 2008. Wildfire and spatial patterns in forests in northwestern Mexico: the United States wishes it had similar fire problems. Ecol. Soc., 13
- Stephens, S.L., Moghaddas, J.J., Ediminster, C., Fiedler, C.E., Hasse, S., Harrington, M., Keeley, J.E., McIver, J.D., Metlen, K., Skinner, C.N., Youngblood, A., 2009. Fire treatment effects on vegetation structure, fuels, and potential fire severity in western U.S. forests. Ecol. Appl. 19, 305–320.
- Stephens, S.L., Millar, C.I., Collins, B.M., 2010. Operational approaches to managing forests of the future in Mediterranean regions within a context of changing climates. Environ. Res. Lett. 5, 024003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/5/ 2/024003.
- Stephens, S.L., McIver, J.D., Boerner, R.E.J., Fettig, C.J., Fontaine, J.B., Hartsough, B.R., Kennedy, P., Schwilk, D.W., 2012a. Effects of forest fuel reduction treatments in the United States. BioScience 62, 549–560.
- Stephens, S.L., Collins, B.M., Roller, G., 2012b. Fuel treatment longevity in a Sierra Nevada mixed conifer forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 285, 204–212.
- Stephens, S.L., Bigelow, S.W., Burnett, R.D., Collins, B.M., Gallagher, C.V., Keane, J., Kelt, D.A., North, M.P., Roberts, L.J., Stine, P.A., 2014. California spotted owl, songbird, and small mammal responses to landscape fuel treatments. BioScience biu137.
- Stephens, S.L., Lydersen, J.M., Collins, B.M., Fry, D.L., Meyer, M.D., 2015. Historical and current landscape-scale ponderosa pine and mixed-conifer forest structure in the Southern Sierra Nevada. Ecosphere 304, 492–504.
- Stephenson, N.L., 1998. Actual evapotranspiration and deficit: biologically meaningful correlates of vegetation distribution across spatial scales. J. Biogeogr. 25, 855–870.
- Stevens, J.T., Safford, H.D., North, M.P., Fried, J.S., Gray, A.N., Brown, P.M., Dolanc, C. R., Dobrowski, S.Z., Falk, D.A., Farris, C.A., Franklin, J.F., Fulé, P.Z., Hagmann, R.K., Knapp, E.E., Miller, J.D., Smith, D.F., Swetnam, T.W., Taylor, A.H., 2016. Average stand age from forest inventory plots does not describe historical fire regimes in ponderosa pine and mixed-conifer forests of western North America. PLoS ONE, in press.
- Stine, P., Hessburg, P.F., Spies, T.A., Kramer, M., Fettig, C.J., Hansen, A., Lehmkuhl, J., O'Hara, K., Polivka, K., Singleton, P., Charnley, S., Merschel, A., White, R., 2014. The Ecology and Management of Moist Mixed-conifer Forests in Eastern Oregon and Washington: A Synthesis of the Relevant Biophysical Science and Implications for Future Land Management. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-897. USDA, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 254 p.
- Stratton, R.D., 2004. Assessing the effectiveness of landscape fuel treatments on fire growth and behavior. J. For. 102, 32–40.
- Sturrock, R.N., Frankel, S.J., Brown, A.V., Hennon, P.E., Kliejunas, J.T., Lewis, K.J., Worrall, J.J., Woods, A.J., 2011. Climate change and forest diseases. Plant Path. 60, 133–149.
- Swanson, F.J., Jones, J.A., Wallin, D.O., Cissel, J.H., 1994. Natural Variability Implications for Ecosystem Management. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-318. USDA, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, pp. 80– 95 (376 p.).
- Swanson, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Beschta, R.L., Crisafulli, C.M., DellaSala, D.A., Hutto, R.L., Lindenmayer, D.B., Swanson, F.J., 2010. The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. Front. Ecol. Environ. 9 (2), 117–125.
- Swetnam, T.W., Allen, C.D., Betancourt, J.L., 1999. Applied historical ecology: using the past to manage for the future. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1189–1206.
- Syphard, A.D., Scheller, R.M., Ward, B.C., Spencer, W.D., Strittholt, J.R., 2011. Simulating landscape-scale effects of fuels treatments in the Sierra Nevada, California, USA. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 20, 364–383.
- Taylor, A.H., Skinner, C.N., 1998. Fire history and landscape dynamics in a latesuccessional reserve in the Klamath Mountains, California, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 111, 285–301.

- Taylor, A.H., 2000. Fire regimes and forest changes in mid and upper montane forests of the southern Cascades, Lassen Volcanic National Park, California, USA. J. Biogeogr. 27, 87–104.
- Taylor, A.H., Skinner, C.N., 2003. Spatial patterns and controls on historical fire regimes and forest structure in the Klamath Mountains. Ecol. Appl. 13, 704–719.
- Taylor, A.H., 2004. Identifying forest reference conditions on early cut-over lands, Lake Tahoe Basin, USA. Ecol. Appl. 14, 1903–1920.
- Taylor, A.H., Skinner, C.N., Estes, B., 2013. A Comparison of Fire Severity Patterns in the Late 19th and Early 21st Century in a Mixed-conifer Forest Landscape in the Southern Cascades. JFSP Research Project Reports, Paper 13. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/jispresearch/13.
- Taylor, A.H., Vandervlught, A.M., Maxwell, R.S., Beaty, R.M., Airey, C., Skinner, C.N., 2014. Changes in forest structure, fuels, and potential fire behavior since 1873 in the Lake Tahoe Basin, USA. Appl. Veg. Sci. 17, 17–31.
- Taylor, A.H., 2010. Fire disturbance and forest structure in an old-growth *pinus ponderosa* forest, southern Cascades, USA. J. Veg. Sci. 21, 561–572.
- Tempel, D.J., Gutiérrez, R.J., Whitmore, S.A., Reetz, M.J., Stoelting, R.E., Berigan, W.J., Seamans, M.E., Peery, M.Z., 2014. Effects of forest management on California Spotted Owls: implications for reducing wildfire risk in fire-prone forests. Ecol. Appl. 24, 2089–2106.
- Tempel, D.J., Gutiérrez, R.J., Battles, J.J., Fry, D.L., Su, Y., Guo, Q., Reetz, M.J., Whitmore, S.A., Jones, G.M., Collins, B.M., Stephens, S.L., 2015. Evaluating shortand long-term impacts of fuels treatments and simulated wildfire on an oldforest species. Ecosphere 6 (12), 1–18.
- Tepley, A.J., Swanson, F.J., Spies, T.A., 2013. Fire-mediated pathways of stand development in Douglas-fir/western hemlock forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Ecology 94, 1729–1743.
- Thaxton, J.M., Platt, W.J., 2006. Small-scale fuel variation alters fire intensity and shrub abundance in a pine savanna. Ecology 87, 1331–1337.
- Thompson, J.R., Spies, T.A., Ganio, L.M., 2007. Reburn severity in managed and unmanaged vegetation in a large wildfire. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104 (25), 10743–10748.
- Thompson, J.R., Spies, T.A., 2009. Vegetation and weather explain variation in crown damage within a large mixed-severity wildfire. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 1684–1694.
- Thompson, J.R., Spies, T.A., 2010. Factors associated with crown damage following recurring mixed-severity wildfires and post-fire management in southwestern Oregon. Landscape Ecol. 25, 775–789.
- Truex, R.L., Zielinski, W.J., 2013. Short-term effects of fuel treatments on fisher habitat in the Sierra Nevada, California. For. Ecol. Manage. 293, 85–91.
- Turner, M.G., 1989. Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 20 (1), 171–197.
- USFWS, 2013. Experimental Removal of Barred Owls to Benefit Threatened Northern Spotted Owls: Final EIS. Oregon Fish and Wildlife Office, USFWS, Portland, OR.
- Vaillant, N.M., Fire-Kaufman, J., Stephens, S.L., 2009. Effectiveness of prescribed fire as a fuel treatment in Californian coniferous forests. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 165– 175.
- van de Water, K., North, M., 2010. Fire history of coniferous riparian forests in the Sierra Nevada. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 384–395.
- van Mantgem, P.J., Stephenson, N.L., Byrne, J.C., Daniels, L.D., Franklin, J.F., Fulé, P.Z., Harmon, M.E., Larson, A.J., Smith, J.M., Taylor, A.H., Veblen, T.T., 2009. Widespread increase of tree mortality rates in the western United States. Science 323, 521–524.
- Van Pelt, R., 2008. Identifying Old Trees and Forests in Eastern Washington. Wash. State Dept. of Nat. Res., Olympia, WA, 166 p.
- van Wagtendonk, J.W., van Wagtendonk, K.A., Thode, A.E., 2012. Factors associated with the severity of intersecting fires in Yosemite National Park, California, USA. Fire Ecol. 8, 11–31.
- Walker, B., Holling, C.S., Carpenter, S.R., Kinzig, A., 2004. Adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. Ecol. Soc. 9, 5.
- Waring, R.H., Running, S.W., 2010. Forest Ecosystems: Analysis at Multiple Scales. Elsevier.
- Weatherspoon, C.P., Skinner, C.N., 1995. An assessment of factors associated with damage to tree crowns from the 1987 wildfires in Northern California. For. Sci. 41, 430–451.
- Weatherspoon, C.P., Skinner, C.N., 1996. Landscape-level strategies for forest fuel management. In: Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project: Final Report to Congress: Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options, vol. II. Wildl. Res. Center Rep. No. 37. University of California, Davis, USA, pp.1471–1492.
- Weaver, H., 1943. Fire as an ecological and silvicultural factor in the ponderosa pine region of the Pacific slope. J. For. 41, 7–15.
- Weaver, H., 1959. Ecological changes in the ponderosa pine forest of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation in Oregon. J. For. 57, 15–20.
- Weaver, H., 1961. Ecological changes in the ponderosa pine forests of Cedar Valley in southern Washington. Ecology 42, 416–420.
- Westerling, A.L., Gershunov, A., Brown, T.J., Cayan, D.R., Dettinger, M.D., 2003. Climate and wildfire in the western United States. B. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 84 (5), 595–604.
- Westerling, A.L., Hidalgo, H.G., Cayan, D.R., Swetnam, T.W., 2006. Warming and earlier spring increases western U.S. wildfire activity. Science 313, 940–943.
- Wiens, J.A., Hayward, G.D., Hugh, D., Giffen, C., 2012. Historical Environmental Variation in Conservation and Natural Resource Management. John Wiley & Sons.
- Wiens, J.D., Anthony, R.G., Forsman, E.D., 2014. Competitive interactions and resource partitioning between northern spotted owls and barred owls in western Oregon. Wildl. Monogr. 185, 1–50.

- Williams, A.P., Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Griffin, D., Woodhouse, C.A., Meko, D.M., Swetnam, T.W., Rauscher, S.A., Seager, R., Grissino-Mayer, H.D., Dean, J.S., Cook, E.R., Gangodagamage, C., Cai, M., McDowell, N.G., 2013. Temperature as a potent driver of regional forest drought stress and tree mortality. Nat. Clim. Change 3, 292–297.
- Williams, M.A., Baker, W.L., 2012. Spatially extensive reconstructions show variable-severity fire and heterogeneous structure in historical western United States dry forests. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 1042–1052.
- Williams, D.F., Verner, J., Sakai, H.F., Waters, J.R., 1992. General biology of major prey species of the California spotted owl. In: Verner, J., McKelvey, K.S., Noon, B. R., Gutiérrez, R.J., Gould, G.I., Jr, Beck, T.W. (Eds.), The California Spotted Owl: A Technical Assessment of its Current Status. PSW-GTR 133. USDA Forest Service, Albany, New York, pp. 207–221.
- Yackulic, C.B., Reid, J., Nichols, J.D., Hines, J.E., Davis, R., Forsman, E., 2014. The roles of competition and habitat in the dynamics of populations and species distributions. Ecology 95, 265–279.
- York, R.A., Heald, R.C., Battles, J.J., York, J.D., 2004. Group selection management in conifer forests: relationships between opening size and tree growth. Can. J. For. Res. 34, 630–641.

- Zabel, C.J., Steger, G.N., McKelvey, K.S., Eberlein, G.P., Noon, B.R., Verner, J., 1992. Home-range Size and Habitat-use Patterns of California Spotted Owls in the Sierra Nevada. The California Spotted Owl: A Technical Assessment of its Current Status. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-133. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 149–164.
- Zabel, C.J., Dunk, J.R., Stauffer, H.B., Roberts, L.M., Mulder, B.S., Wright, A., 2003. Northern spotted owl habitat models for research and management application in California (USA). Ecol. Appl. 13, 1027–1040.
- Zeide, B., 1983. The mean diameter for stand density index. Can. J. For. Res. 13, 1023–1024.
- Zielinski, W.J., Thompson, C.M., Purcell, K.L., Garner, J.D., 2013. An assessment of fisher (*Pekania pennanti*) tolerance to forest management intensity on the landscape. For. Ecol. Manage. 310, 821–826.
- Zielinski, W.J., 2014. The forest carnivores: fisher and marten. In: Long, J.W., Quinn-Davidson, L., Skinner, C.N. (Eds.), Science Synthesis to Support Socioecological Resilience in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Range. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-247. USDA For. Serv., Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA, pp. 395–435.